

RECEIVED: April 28, 2025 Accepted: September 16, 2025 Published: October 22, 2025

BPS complexes and Chern-Simons theories from G-structures in gauge theory and gravity

Julian Kupka $^{\bigcirc}$, Charles Strickland-Constable $^{\bigcirc}$, Eirik Eik Svanes $^{\bigcirc}$, David Tennyson $^{\bigcirc}$ c and Fridrich Valach $^{\bigcirc}$ a

N-4036, Stavanger, Norway

E-mail: j.kupka@herts.ac.uk, c.strickland-constable@herts.ac.uk, eirik.e.svanes@uis.no, dtennyson@tamu.edu, f.valach@herts.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We consider a variety of physical systems in which one has states that can be thought of as generalised instantons. These include Yang-Mills theories on manifolds with a torsion-free G-structure, analogous gravitational instantons and certain supersymmetric solutions of ten-dimensional supergravity, using their formulation as generalised G-structures on Courant algebroids. We provide a universal algebraic construction of a complex, which we call the BPS complex, that computes the infinitesimal moduli space of the instanton as one of its cohomologies. We call a class of these spinor type complexes, which are closely connected to supersymmetric systems, and show how their Laplacians have nice properties. In the supergravity context, the BPS complex becomes a double complex, in a way that corresponds to the left- and right-moving sectors of the string, and becomes much like the double complex of (p,q)-forms on a Kähler manifold. If the BPS complex has a symplectic inner product, one can write down an associated linearised BV Chern-Simons theory, which reproduces several classic examples in gauge theory. We discuss applications to (quasi-)topological string theories and heterotic superpotential functionals, whose quadratic parts can also be constructed naturally from the BPS complex.

Keywords: Differential and Algebraic Geometry, Supergravity Models, Solitons Monopoles and Instantons, Flux Compactifications

ArXiv ePrint: 2406.03550

^aDepartment of Physics, Astronomy and Mathematics, University of Hertfordshire, College Lane, Hatfield, AL10 9AB, U.K.

^bDepartment of Mathematics and Physics, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Stavanger,

^cMitchell Institute for Fundamental Physics and Astronomy, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, 77843, U.S.A.

Contents		
1	Introduction	1
2	Carrión's instanton complex	5
	2.1 Colour-stripped BPS complex	5
	2.2 Examples	7
	2.3 Spinor type complexes and Hodge theory	8
	2.4 Bundle valued forms and instanton moduli	11
	2.5 Product manifolds	13
3	BV Chern-Simons theories	14
	3.1 3d abelian Chern-Simons	14
	3.2 Holomorphic Chern-Simons	15
	3.3 G_2 Chern-Simons	15
	3.4 4d Chern-Simons	15
4	Gravitational BPS complex	16
5	The BPS complex for Courant algebroids and supergravity	20
	5.1 Preliminaries	21
	5.2 The BPS complex for torsion-free generalised G -structures	24
	5.3 The $G_+ \times G$ double complex and Kähler identities	25
	5.4 Examples	28
	5.5 Spinor type complexes in $O(d,d) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry	31
6	Applications	35
	6.1 Moduli spaces of flux backgrounds	35
	6.2 Target spaces for topological strings	39
	6.3 SU(3) heterotic superpotential	41
	$6.4 G_2$ heterotic superpotential	46
7	Discussion and outlook	48
\mathbf{A}	Gamma matrix decompositions	52

1 Introduction

When studying a quantum field theory or string theory, it is often convenient to study a simpler 'twisted' theory first which, in nice cases, teaches us something about the full theory. In the past, this strategy has been used to great effect and has led to interesting connections with other topics in geometry and topology. For example, topological quantum field theories [1] are simple models of quantum field theory in that they have no propagating

degrees of freedom and they were famously related to topological invariants of the underlying manifolds in a variety of situations [1–3]. The topological versions of string σ -models [3, 4] also gave rise to topological string theories [5, 6], which are subsectors of the full string theory where exact computations can be performed. In fact, these computations were shown to give results that remain valid in the full theory [6, 7]. A further interesting class of simplified QFTs are holomorphic field theories, as studied in [8–11], which are simpler than full smooth QFTs but have considerably more structure than topological field theories.

Many of these theories arise from taking a supersymmetric theory and applying a twist [1]. This is a two-step process in which one first modifies the Lorentz symmetry of the theory, and correspondingly the energy-momentum tensor, so that one of the spinor supercharges becomes a scalar that can be defined globally regardless of the particular metric on the manifold. One then adds this supercharge to the BRST operator of the theory, which significantly modifies the spectrum of physical states in general. In the case that the energy-momentum tensor becomes BRST exact, the correlation functions become metric independent and one has a topological field theory of "Witten type". For example, Donaldson-Witten theory can be constructed as a twist of $4d \mathcal{N} = 2$ Yang-Mills theory, in which case the spectrum of the twisted BRST operator becomes the SU(2) instantons. Other examples are the A- and B-models which are twists of $2d \mathcal{N} = (2, 2) \sigma$ -models. Subsequently, such twists have been studied extensively [12–19].

For metrics which admit a parallel spinor field, one can single out a global scalar supercharge for the theory without the need to modify the Lorentz symmetry or energymomentum tensor [20, 21], though one still needs to add the scalar supercharge to the BRST operator of the theory (for example, in order that the Yang-Mills action becomes a topological term up to BRST exact pieces). The parallel spinor field is equivalent to a torsion-free G-structure on the tangent bundle, with a structure group that preserves the spinor. In other cases, one could have a G-structure which admits a line of singlet spinors which are charged under some U(1) subgroup, and then one must perform a twist of the theory to obtain a scalar supercharge. Either way, such G-structures play an important role in the study of twisted theories. In gauge theories, the physical states which are kept in the twisted theories are then the various types of instanton configurations defined with respect to these G-structures. and the quantum path integrals localise onto these states. These instantons solve first-order equations which imply the second order Yang-Mills field equations, as explored and classified in [22, 23]. There have been many previous studies of the geometry of these instanton configurations and their moduli spaces [15, 24, 25], their coupling to gravity in the context of heterotic supergravity [26–28], and their relation to D-branes in type II strings [29, 30].

Recently, it was proposed how to twist supergravity theories [31] using this latter strategy, enabling also the study of holographic duality to the twisted gauge theories [32] as a toy model of the AdS/CFT correspondence [33]. In the supergravity context, the twist is performed by working in the BV formalism and giving a vacuum expectation value to the bosonic ghost field corresponding to one of the supersymmetries. For supergravity theories coupled to super Yang-Mills multiplets, this procedure leads to the twist of the Yang-Mills sector in agreement with the previous constructions. Much work has been done to construct twisted supergravity theories [34–38], much of it using the pure-spinor superfield formalism (see e.g. [39] and references therein) and recent developments of it [40, 41].

Ubiquitous in these constructions is a differential complex, properties of which provide information about the instanton states as well as 1-loop corrections. In this paper, we show how one can construct these complexes associated to instantons and their gravitational analogues via a seemingly universal algebraic procedure whose main ingredient is a (generalised) G-structure on the manifold. We shall refer to these complexes as the BPS complex. One of the cohomologies of the BPS complex computes the infinitesimal moduli of the instantonic configuration. We go on to show how BPS complexes can be used in various ways to construct Chern-Simons-type actions associated to instantonic states and explore how their relation with spinors and supersymmetry provides additional relations between the various differential operators acting on them.

A precursor of central importance for the present work is the complex defined by Carrión [42]. It is associated to a G-structure (which must satisfy relevant constraints on its intrinsic torsion) such that the first cohomology group gives the infinitesimal moduli space of the relevant instanton configurations in gauge theories. In this article, we show how to construct such complexes not just for gauge theory instantons, but for instanton states associated to G-structures quite generally. The gravitational versions of such instantons are the torsion-free G-structures themselves while in supergravity they are general supersymmetric Minkowksi backgrounds (including fluxes). In the cases of heterotic geometries with flux, our construction reproduces the complexes found in earlier systematic constructions of the infinitesimal moduli [43, 44] after redefining fields (see also [45, 46]). Indeed, this shows very concretely how the bundles denoted Q in those references, and which also underlie the algebroids discussed in [45, 47, 48], arise naturally in generalised geometry.

Generalised geometry [49, 50] and the resulting formulation of supergravity [51] and supersymmetric backgrounds [52–55] is a natural language in which to consider general supersymmetric solutions, and it will be a central part of our construction here. In this picture, the conditions for supersymmetry become equivalent to the existence of a torsionfree generalised G-structure [54, 55] (or singlet torsion in the AdS case [56-58]) and this formalism has been used, for example, to make general statements about the moduli spaces of such backgrounds with no assumptions about the nature of the fluxes [59–62], as well as many other developments. Here, this reformulation enables us to define the BPS complex associated to a supersymmetric flux geometry as the direct analogue of the complex we define for torsion-free G-structures in ordinary Riemannian geometry. In this work, for simplicity we restrict attention to $O(d,d) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry for the NS-NS sector of type II theories as described in [51] and the $O(d, d+n) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry for heterotic supergravity [63, 64]. In these geometries, the decomposition of the generalised tangent bundle into positive and negative sub-bundles under the generalised metric enables one to associate target space geometric features with the left- and right-moving sectors of the string worldsheets. This in fact gives our complex the structure of a double complex and we will see that it behaves analogously to the double complex of (p,q)-forms on a Kähler manifold. The $SU(3) \times SU(3)$, $G_2 \times G_2$ and $Spin(7) \times Spin(7)$ cases were previously described in detail in [67].

¹In this work we will take the connection on the tangent bundle which appears in the Riemann tensor squared term in the Bianchi identity to be an additional spurious degree of freedom, as in e.g. [43, 60]. See [65, 66] for an interesting approach to resolving this issue.

For particular G-structures, the BPS complex obtains extra structure, and we call these spinor-type complexes. These appear already in examples of the gauge theory BPS complex of Carrión. It can happen that the sum of terms appearing in the even and odd parts of the BPS complex form the decomposition of spinor representations of the orthogonal group under the structure group G. The BPS complex thus becomes isomorphic to pair of spinors, which together form a representation of the Clifford algebra. The key point is that under this isomorphism, the Dirac operator is related to a combination of the differential and its adjoint. In these cases, one finds a general proof that the Laplacian for the BPS complex is proportional to the de Rham Laplacian acting on the forms. This provides a general structure to case-by-case computations which have appeared in other sources [67, 68].

The notion of spinor type complex also appears in O(d,d) generalised geometry, where the weighted spinor bundle associated to the generalised tangent space is isomorphic to the polyforms on the manifold [49–51], with the O(d,d) generalised Dirac operator becoming the exterior derivative twisted by the three-form field strength H. Previous works [50, 69, 70] have studied the decomposition of this complex which occurs when one has generalised G-structures of various types and its Hodge theory. While in the generalised Kähler case we reproduce the complex of [69], we emphasise that our construction is different to what is done in those works. allowing for complexes which do not have a generalised spinor interpretation. Further, even in the generalised Kähler case we use a different grading on the double complex according to the exterior powers of the sub-bundles C_{+} and C_{-} of the generalised tangent space in which the terms occur. This is crucial for matching the elements of the complex against worldsheet features of string theory. Rather than viewing the O(d,d) Dirac operator $(d+H\wedge)$ as a differential, in our construction we view it as a sum of left- and right-moving Dirac operators. That its square is zero corresponds to the equality of the left- and right-moving Laplacians Δ_+ and Δ_{-} , which is related to level-matching on the string. Coupled with the Kähler identities mentioned above, this equality also ensures that we have an analogue of the $\partial \partial$ -lemma.

Note that in the context of supersymmetric backgrounds, the isomorphisms of the BPS complexes, which provide the deformation complexes of the generalised G-structure associated to the NSNS fields, with polyforms that could be thought of as RR fields, is a manifestation of the spectral flow on the worldsheet from a spacetime perspective. This identification of NSNS and RR degrees of freedom is special to $\mathcal{N}=2$ backgrounds and explains why one can naturally describe the supersymmetry of NSNS backgrounds in terms of generalised pure spinors [52, 53, 71], which one would more naturally associate with RR degrees of freedom. In this sense, the description of the BPS complex that we provide here, thought of as a quotient of $\Lambda^{\bullet}(E)$, puts the discussion firmly back into the sphere of NSNS objects, and also applies to general structure groups, rather than restricting to the spinor type cases.

As well as providing the infinitesimal moduli spaces of solutions, a principle application of our formalism lies in the systematic construction of field theories in which the classical states are instantons. In many interesting cases, the BPS complexes we define have a symplectic inner product, such that one can directly write down a quadratic BV action for a field theory from them. For certain examples of Carrión's gauge theory BPS complexes, this reproduces the quadratic part of the actions for Chern-Simons theory and its various higher dimensional generalisations [72–75] which have been of great interest to physicists and geometers alike. For

the complexes arising from supergravity backgrounds, we are able to reconstruct the SU(3) and G_2 heterotic superpotential functionals to quadratic order. Indeed, via this construction, there will be a heterotic analogue of each of the aforementioned gauge theories. It was also shown in previous work [67] how the SU(3) × SU(3), $G_2 \times G_2$ and Spin(7) × Spin(7) complexes for type II geometry gave target space descriptions of the worldsheet BRST complexes of the corresponding (quasi-)topological string theories [3, 76]. This enables one to write target space quadratic actions (where the relevant symplectic pairing exists) whose quantisation gives the correct one-loop terms [67, 77].

This paper is structured as follows. In section 2, we review Carrión's construction and go on to introduce spinor type complexes, prove general results about their Hodge theory and Laplacians, discuss the definition of instantons and the relation to BPS states and comment on product manifolds. Section 3 contains a series of examples of quadratic BV actions which result from the BPS complexes of section 2. We generalise the construction to gravitational instantons (i.e. torsion-free G-structures) in section 4. Section 5 provides the further generalisation to generalised G-structures, which in relevant cases correspond to generic supersymmetric Minkowksi backgrounds of type II and heterotic supergravity with NSNS and gauge field fluxes. We also derive the Kähler identities for $G_+ \times G_-$ structures, and introduce spinor type complexes in the type II cases, for which we prove the equality of the Laplacians Δ_{\pm} . Section 6 contains some examples of applications of the formalism: infinitesimal moduli spaces of flux backgrounds, topological string theories and heterotic superpotential functionals.

2 Carrión's instanton complex

In this section, we review Carrión's construction of a complex associated to gauge theory instantons on a manifold with a torsion-free G-structure.² These are the BPS complexes for gauge theories in our terminology. We go on to define what we call "spinor-type" examples of these complexes, for which we are able to provide a general proof that their Laplacians are proportional to the usual de Rham Laplacians acting on forms. We also demonstrate that on product manifolds with product metrics, the BPS complex becomes the tensor product of the BPS complexes on the factors, such that the product of two spinor type examples remains spinor type. Finally, in cases where the BPS complex has a symplectic inner product of the right degree, one can see it as the BV complex of a field theory and we discuss several examples of theories which arise in this way in section 3.

2.1 Colour-stripped BPS complex

Let us recall how Carrión [42] defines a complex $(\mathcal{A}^{\bullet}, \check{\mathbf{d}})$ on a real manifold M of dimension d with a G-structure, for $G \subset \mathrm{SO}(d)$. In fact, to begin with, let us examine a "colour-stripped" version, in which one considers only differential forms, rather than the endomorphism valued forms considered in [42] which we will address later in section 2.4. By a slight abuse of notation, we will write \mathfrak{g} both for the Lie algebra of G and the induced subbundle of

²One can in fact relax the torsion-free requirement to allow for some intrinsic torsion in some cases, but for simplicity we will restrict to considering the case of torsion-free structures here.

 $\Lambda^2 T^* := \Lambda^2 T^* M \cong \mathfrak{so}(TM)$. At first we consider the case with trivial gauge bundle for simplicity. One defines the bundle A^k to be the quotient of the bundle of k-forms

$$\Lambda^k T^* \tag{2.1}$$

by the subbundle

$$B^k := \mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{k-2} T^*. \tag{2.2}$$

The spaces of sections of A^k and B^k will be denoted \mathcal{A}^k and \mathcal{B}^k , respectively. The differential on the BPS complex \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} is then defined to be $\check{\mathbf{d}} = \mathcal{P} \circ \mathbf{d}$ where \mathcal{P} is the projector onto \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} .

For a general G-structure, one would not find that $\check{d}^2 = 0$. However, it is easy to see that a sufficient condition for this to hold is that the image of d restricted to $\mathcal{B}^2 = \Gamma(\mathfrak{g}) \subset \Gamma(\Lambda^2 T^*) = \Omega^2$ lies inside \mathcal{B}^3 . To see this, note that any element $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ can be written as a sum of terms

$$\beta = \sum_{i} \beta_i \wedge \lambda_i \tag{2.3}$$

with $\beta_i \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g})$, and so if $d(\mathcal{B}^2) \subset \mathcal{B}^3$ then

$$d\beta = \sum_{i} (d\beta_i) \wedge \lambda_i + \sum_{i} \beta_i \wedge (d\lambda_i)$$
(2.4)

also lies in \mathcal{B} . This means that d preserves \mathcal{B} , which is then a differential ideal. To see that then $\check{d}^2 = 0$, note that given $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^k$, one has

$$d\alpha = d\alpha + \eta \tag{2.5}$$

with $\eta \in \mathcal{B}$. Thus

$$0 = d^2 \alpha = (\check{d}^2 \alpha + \eta') + d\eta \tag{2.6}$$

where η' and $d\eta$ are in \mathcal{B} . This implies that both $\check{d}^2\alpha = 0$ and $\eta' + d\eta = 0$ as $\Lambda^k T^*$ is the direct sum of A^k and B^k . We have essentially just shown that (\mathcal{B}, d) is a sub-complex and taken the quotient of (Ω^{\bullet}, d) by it to construct (\mathcal{A}, \check{d}) .

The condition that d sends \mathcal{B}^2 to \mathcal{B}^3 can be viewed as an intrinsic torsion condition as follows. Let $\hat{\nabla} = \nabla + \Sigma$ be a G-compatible connection, which is not necessarily torsion-free. Here ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection and $\Sigma \in \Gamma(T^* \otimes (T \otimes T^*))$ is a generic tensor. As $\hat{\nabla}$ is G-compatible, it preserves \mathfrak{g} representations, and thus for any $\beta \in \mathcal{B}^2 \subset \Omega^2$ one has

$$\hat{\nabla}\beta \in \Gamma(T^* \otimes \mathfrak{g})$$
 and so $d_{\hat{\nabla}}\beta \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge T^*) = \mathcal{B}^3$. (2.7)

Therefore, we have

$$d\beta = d_{\nabla}\beta = d_{\hat{\nabla}}\beta - d_{\Sigma}\beta \tag{2.8}$$

Thus the condition that $d\beta \in \mathcal{B}^3$ is equivalent to $d_{\Sigma}\beta \in \mathcal{B}^3$. This is simply a condition on which G-irreducible parts of Σ are allowed. However, any G-compatible part of Σ can be absorbed into $\hat{\nabla}$ and d_{Σ} depends only on the torsion of Σ (i.e. $\Sigma_{[m\ p]}^n$) so in fact this is a constraint on the intrinsic torsion of the structure.

2.2 Examples

We start with the two trivial examples. Firstly, one can consider the case G = SO(d), in which case all two-forms are in the span of the Lie algebra at each point and are thus projected out, leaving

$$0 \to \Omega^0 \stackrel{d}{\to} \Omega^1 \to 0 \tag{2.9}$$

The other trivial case is that of an identity structure $G = \{1\}$, in which case the quotient does nothing and the BPS complex is simply the de Rham complex.

As we will elaborate on further in section 2.4, one of the initial motivations for the construction was the observation that taking structure group $SU(2)_L \subset SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \simeq Spin(4)$ in four dimensions, one finds the complex

$$0 \to \Omega^0 \stackrel{d}{\to} \Omega^1 \stackrel{\mathcal{P}_+ d}{\to} \Omega^{2,+} \to 0 \tag{2.10}$$

where $\Omega^{2,+}$ is the self-dual two-forms and \mathcal{P}_+ is the projector $\Omega^2 \to \Omega^{2,+}$. A one-form α is thus \check{d} -closed if $d\alpha$ is anti-self-dual.

Next, in any even dimension d=2N one can consider $\mathfrak{u}(N)\subset\mathfrak{so}(d)$. We have a preserved complex structure J with respect to which $\Gamma(\mathfrak{u}(N))\simeq\Omega^{1,1}$, so that the quotient procedure gives

$$0 \to \Omega^{0,0} \overset{\partial + \bar{\partial}}{\to} \Omega^{1,0} \oplus \Omega^{0,1} \overset{\partial + \bar{\partial}}{\to} \Omega^{2,0} \oplus \Omega^{0,2} \overset{\partial + \bar{\partial}}{\to} \Omega^{3,0} \oplus \Omega^{0,3} \to \dots$$
 (2.11)

One can also consider the subtly different complex which comes from taking $\mathfrak{su}(N) \subset \mathfrak{so}(d)$, which is the direct higher-dimensional analogue of (2.10). This is the same as (2.11) aside from an extra piece in degree two, corresponding to forms proportional to the Kähler form ω :

$$0 \to \Omega^{0,0} \overset{\partial + \bar{\partial}}{\to} \Omega^{1,0} \oplus \Omega^{0,1} \overset{\partial + \bar{\partial}}{\to} \Omega^{2,0} \oplus \langle \omega \rangle \oplus \Omega^{0,2} \overset{\partial + \bar{\partial}}{\to} \Omega^{3,0} \oplus \Omega^{0,3} \to \dots$$
 (2.12)

In the definition of an instanton that we describe in section 2.4 below, this extra piece gives an extra constraint on the curvature of our gauge connection which imposes the full hermitian Yang-Mills equations rather than merely the condition that the gauge bundle is holomorphic.

Aside from the degree zero piece, (2.11) is clearly the induced real space of a sum of two complexes of complex forms: the usual Dolbeault complexes $(\Omega^{\bullet,0}, \partial)$ and $(\Omega^{0,\bullet}, \bar{\partial})$. In what follows, we will complexify the scalar and tend to focus on the anti-holomorphic half

$$0 \to \Omega^{0,0} \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}} \Omega^{0,1} \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}} \Omega^{0,2} \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}} \Omega^{0,3} \to \dots \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}} \Omega^{0,N} \to 0$$
 (2.13)

The complexification of the scalar is important as it is the generator of gauge transformations in what follows, and in applications of this complex to moduli spaces, results in geometric invariant theory suggest that the moduli space including the D-term supersymmetry conditions should be the solutions of the F-terms modulo complexified gauge transformations (see e.g. [15, 59] for discussions of this phenomenon). In the applications that we consider, the U(N) complex (2.11) will be living on a Calabi-Yau manifold where there is in fact a further reduction of the structure group to SU(N), and this SU(N) structure is also torsion-free. The additional degree two piece of the complex that is present in (2.12) versus (2.11) would

impose the hermitian Yang-Mills condition on our instanton field strength, which can be thought of as a D-term condition. By working with the U(N) complex and complexifying the scalar, we thus account for these additional conditions in a simple fashion when considering moduli. Thus in the remainder of this article, we will take (2.13) (or very occasionally its complex conjugate) when considering $U(N) \subset SO(2N)$ structures.

For other cases, we use the notation that $\Omega^k_{\mathbf{r}}$ denotes k-forms which are sections of the sub-bundle of $\Lambda^k T^*M$ transforming in the representation \mathbf{r} of the structure group G.

In seven dimensions, one can consider torsion-free G_2 structures (i.e. metrics with Riemannian holonomy G_2), with $\mathfrak{g}_2 \subset \mathfrak{so}(7)$. This gives a BPS complex:

$$0 \to \Omega^0 \stackrel{d}{\to} \Omega^1 \stackrel{\check{d}}{\to} \Omega^2 \stackrel{\check{d}}{\to} \Omega^3_1 \to 0 \tag{2.14}$$

Similarly, for Spin(7) in eight dimensions the BPS complex is:

$$0 \to \Omega^0 \stackrel{d}{\to} \Omega^1 \stackrel{\check{d}}{\to} \Omega_7^2 \to 0 \tag{2.15}$$

2.3 Spinor type complexes and Hodge theory

In the construction above, we assumed that the structure group is a subgroup of SO(d) and thus in particular induces a Riemannian metric on M, and consequently also an inner product on $\Lambda^k T^*$. We can then identify A with the orthogonal complement of B, i.e. we have an orthogonal decomposition

$$\Lambda^k T^* = A^k \oplus B^k = A^k \oplus (\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{k-2} T^*) . \tag{2.16}$$

Using the induced positive inner product on A^{\bullet} one can define the adjoint $\check{\mathbf{d}}^{\dagger}$ of the differential $\check{\mathbf{d}}$. Armed with this, one can then define the Laplacian operator

$$\check{\Delta} = \{\check{\mathbf{d}}, \check{\mathbf{d}}^{\dagger}\} \tag{2.17}$$

and find a Hodge decomposition of each space \mathcal{A}^k in the usual way³

$$\mathcal{A}^k = \operatorname{Im} \check{\mathbf{d}} \oplus \operatorname{Im} \check{\mathbf{d}}^\dagger \oplus H^k_{\check{\mathbf{d}}} . \tag{2.18}$$

In fact, it is often convenient to introduce conventional numerical factors into the definitions of the inner product and the adjoint so that these operations remain compatible with isomorphisms between the different spaces \mathcal{A}^k in the complex. We do not wish to go into details of this here, but refer the reader to [67] for explicit details in the cases of G_2 in seven dimensions and Spin(7) in eight dimensions. There it is seen that the convention choices result in, for example, Laplacian operators that depend only on the representation of the structure group and not the degree of form in which the representation appears.

One can observe that, in some interesting cases, the vector bundle underlying the BPS complex is isomorphic to a pair of spinor bundles $A^{\bullet} \simeq S_{+} \oplus S_{-}$. We will refer to these cases as BPS complexes of "spinor type". Here, in even dimensions the summands S^{\pm} are the

 $^{^{3}}$ We ignore finer analytic details concerning the completeness of the inner product in making this statement here.

spinor bundles of positive and negative chirality, while in odd dimensions they are simply two isomorphic copies of the spinor bundle. Overall, they form a representation of the Clifford algebra, and thus there is an action of the Dirac operator on them, which is crucial for what follows below. One can also see that they correspond to the odd and even degree forms in the BPS complex respectively and thus transform oppositely under parity so that they form a pinor overall. For spinor type complexes, the inner products used to define the adjoint operator and Laplacian are naturally the relevant spinor inner products, written in terms of forms, and it is the representation theory of spinors that leads to the seemingly strange numerical factor choice arising in the treatment of e.g. [67]. Further, one has that a Dirac-type operator

$$\mathcal{D} = a\dot{\mathbf{d}} + b\dot{\mathbf{d}}^{\dagger} \tag{2.19}$$

corresponds to the usual spinor Dirac operator ∇ acting on the pair of spinors.⁴ The coefficients a and b depend on the particular details of the case in question, but the square of the operator is always proportional to $\check{\Delta}$

$$\mathcal{D}^2 = ab\{\dot{\mathbf{d}}, \dot{\mathbf{d}}^\dagger\} = ab\dot{\Delta} \tag{2.20}$$

For example, for the U(3) complex in six-dimensions, we have

$$0 \to \Omega_1 \to \Omega_3 \to \Omega_{\bar{3}} \to \Omega_1 \to 0 \tag{2.21}$$

where we have in fact decomposed into SU(3) representations as we assume that the metric has a torsion-free SU(3) structure as discussed above. The even parts are thus $\mathbf{1} + \mathbf{\bar{3}} \simeq \mathbf{\bar{4}}$ and odd parts are $\mathbf{1} + \mathbf{3} \simeq \mathbf{4}$. This is the usual isomorphism between $\Omega^{0,(\text{even/odd})}$ and S^{\pm} on a Calabi-Yau manifold given by

$$\omega_{\bar{a}_1...\bar{a}_k} \leftrightarrow \omega_{\bar{a}_1...\bar{a}_k} \gamma^{\bar{a}_1...\bar{a}_k} \epsilon \tag{2.22}$$

where ϵ is the parallel singlet spinor. It is then a simple calculation to see that the Dirac operator ∇ acts as $\bar{\partial} + 2\bar{\partial}^{\dagger}$ on the corresponding (0, k)-forms. This then squares to $2\Delta_{\bar{\partial}} = \Delta_{\mathrm{dR}}$.

Another example of a spinor type complex comes from the G_2 case in seven-dimensions where we have the BPS complex representations

$$0 \to \Omega_1 \to \Omega_7 \to \Omega_7 \to \Omega_1 \to 0 \tag{2.23}$$

so that again the even and odd parts become spinors:

$$\psi(\omega_0, \omega_2) = \omega_0 \epsilon + \frac{1}{2} \omega_{mn} \gamma^{mn} \epsilon
\chi(\omega_1, \omega_3) = \omega_m \gamma^m \epsilon + \frac{1}{3!} \tilde{\omega}_3 \phi_{mnp} \gamma^{mnp} \epsilon$$
(2.24)

where ϵ is the parallel singlet spinor and the singlet 3-form is $\omega_{mnp} = \tilde{\omega}_3 \phi_{mnp}$ for a scalar ω_3 and G_2 three-form ϕ .

⁴This is also noted in [15].

Following the conventions of [55], we first note that we can choose ϵ Majorana, and that the γ -matrices are purely imaginary. Thus, it is natural to form a complex spinor with real part ψ and imaginary part χ as

$$\Psi(\omega) := \psi(\omega_0, \omega_2) + \chi(\omega_1, \omega_3). \tag{2.25}$$

We can then express the spinor Dirac inner product via form inner products, and find:

$$\overline{\Psi(\omega)}\Psi(\lambda) = \langle \omega_0, \lambda_0 \rangle + \langle \omega_1, \lambda_1 \rangle + 3 \cdot \langle \omega_2, \lambda_2 \rangle + 7 \cdot \langle \omega_3, \lambda_3 \rangle
+ i \left(\langle \omega_0 \phi, \lambda_3 \rangle - \langle \omega_3, \lambda_0 \phi \rangle + \langle \omega_1 \lrcorner \phi, \lambda_2 \rangle - \langle \omega_2, \lambda_1 \lrcorner \phi \rangle \right)$$
(2.26)

where we used the standard metric induced inner product on forms $\langle \omega_p, \lambda_p \rangle = \frac{1}{p!} \omega_{m_1...m_p} \lambda^{m_1...m_p}$. We note that the factors in front of the two- and three-form inner product arise naturally through γ -matrix contractions, matching the ones imposed in [55], and thus providing an explanation for their appearance in the G_2 complex. We thus take the, positive definite, real part of the inner product eq. (2.26) to define the adjoint operators of \check{d} .

Since the Dirac operator ∇ maps even to odd spinors and vice versa, we make the ansatz

$$\nabla \psi(\omega_0, \omega_2) = \chi((\mathcal{D}\omega)_1, (\mathcal{D}\omega)_3), \tag{2.27}$$

$$\nabla \chi(\omega_1, \omega_3) = \psi((\mathcal{D}\omega)_0, (\mathcal{D}\omega)_2), \tag{2.28}$$

for some differential operator \mathcal{D} acting on the forms.

Using the inner product formula (2.26), we deduce the action of \mathcal{D} on the even spinor to be

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_m = \nabla_m \omega_0 + 3\nabla^p \omega_{pm}, \tag{2.29}$$

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_{mnp} = (\mathcal{P}_1^3 d_{\nabla}\omega_2)_{mnp}, \tag{2.30}$$

for $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{1}}^{3}$ the projector onto the singlet part of the three-form, while the action on odd spinors is given by

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_0 = \nabla^m \omega_m, \tag{2.31}$$

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_{mn} = (\mathcal{P}_{7}^{2} d_{\nabla}\omega_{1})_{mn} + \frac{7}{3} \nabla^{p} \omega_{pmn}, \qquad (2.32)$$

for \mathcal{P}_{7}^{2} the projector onto the 7 part of the two-form. Note, that not only do we find the $\check{d} \equiv \mathcal{P} \circ d_{\nabla}$ action naturally, but also the correct factors for the adjoint, as found in [55]. Thus we can identify

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_1 = \check{\mathbf{d}}\omega_0 - \check{\mathbf{d}}^\dagger\omega_2, \tag{2.33}$$

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_3 = \check{\mathbf{d}}\omega_2,\tag{2.34}$$

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_0 = -\check{\mathbf{d}}^\dagger \omega_1, \tag{2.35}$$

$$(\mathcal{D}\omega)_2 = \check{\mathbf{d}}\omega_1 - \check{\mathbf{d}}^{\dagger}\omega_3. \tag{2.36}$$

Consequently, we have shown the G_2 complex to be of spinor type and that the Dirac operator corresponds to $\mathcal{D} = \check{d} - \check{d}^{\dagger}$ so that

$$\nabla \Psi(\omega) = \Psi((\dot{\mathbf{d}} - \dot{\mathbf{d}}^{\dagger})\omega) \tag{2.37}$$

We note that where the complex becomes spinor type, there must be a singlet spinor ϵ corresponding to the scalar Ω^0 and (at least in the SU(N), G_2 and Spin(7) cases) the vector representation does not feature a singlet of the structure group, so that we must have $\bar{\epsilon}\gamma^m\epsilon=0$ and thus ϵ is a pure spinor. One might think that this suggests possible connections to the pure spinor superfield formalism [78–83], which has been a topic of particular interest recently [35, 40, 41]. However, there are two ways in which pure spinors appear in those constructions: firstly in the definition of pure spinor superfields and secondly via the G-structure with which one constructs twists. Our spinor is naturally the one corresponding to the G-structure and not directly the one corresponding to the pure spinor superfield, though there may be some more indirect connection.

Using the spinor presentation, one can see that the Laplacian $\check{\Delta}$ will always be proportional to the de Rham Laplacian acting on the corresponding form if the metric is Ricci flat as follows. The Laplacian $\check{\Delta} = (\check{d} + \check{d}^{\dagger})^2$ is proportional to the square of the Dirac operator in the spinor formulation which a standard calculation expands as

$$\nabla^2 \psi = \left(\nabla^m \nabla_m - \frac{1}{4}R\right)\psi, \qquad (2.38)$$

where R is the Ricci scalar. For a spinor $\psi = \psi \epsilon$ with $\nabla_m \epsilon = 0$, the operator on the r.h.s. acts as a scalar operator and as $\nabla \epsilon = 0$ its expression transfers directly across to the resulting form

$$(\check{\Delta}\omega)_{m_1...m_k} \propto \left(\nabla^m \nabla_m - \frac{1}{4}R\right)\omega_{m_1...m_k}$$
 (2.39)

Next, we expand the de Rham Laplacian acting on a generic form ω as

$$(\Delta\omega)_{m_1...m_k} = -\nabla^2\omega_{m_1...m_k} + k[\nabla^p, \nabla_{[m_1]}\omega_{|p|m_2...m_k}]$$

$$= -\nabla^2\omega_{m_1...m_k} + kR^p_{[m_1}\omega_{|p|m_2...m_k}] - k(k-1)R^p_{[m_1}{}^q_{m_2}\omega_{|pq|m_3...m_k}]$$

$$= -\nabla^2\omega_{m_1...m_k} + kR^p_{[m_1}\omega_{|p|m_2...m_k}] - \frac{1}{2}k(k-1)R_{[m_1m_2}{}^{pq}\omega_{|pq|m_3...m_k}]$$
(2.40)

where we have used the algebraic Bianchi identity. However, as $R \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \otimes \mathfrak{g})$ and \mathcal{A} was defined to be orthogonal to \mathcal{B} , we have

$$R_{mn}^{pq}\omega_{pqn_1...} = 0 (2.41)$$

for forms ω in \mathcal{A} , so that for $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$ the Riemann tensor term above vanishes. If the metric is Ricci flat, which for some structure groups G is implied by the vanishing of the intrinsic torsion, we have $\check{\Delta} \propto \Delta \propto \nabla^2$ for both operators acting on \mathcal{A} .

This result implies that the harmonic forms, which are representatives of the cohomology, match those for the usual de Rham Laplacian in the relevant representation of the structure group. Note, however, that the Ricci flat condition is sufficient but not necessary here. For example, it is well-known that on all Kähler manifolds the Dolbeault Laplacian $\Delta_{\bar{\partial}}$ is half the de Rham Laplacian and the cohomology groups also decompose by (p,q) type.

2.4 Bundle valued forms and instanton moduli

One can extend the BPS complex as defined above to one based on

$$\Omega^{\bullet}(\operatorname{End}(V)) = \Gamma(\Lambda^{\bullet}T^* \otimes \operatorname{End}(V))$$
(2.42)

for V a vector bundle with gauge group K, so long as one has a connection A on it whose curvature $F \in \Omega^2(\text{End}(V))$ is an instanton, by which we mean

$$F \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \otimes \operatorname{End}(V)) \subset \Omega^2(\operatorname{End}(V))$$
 (2.43)

The point is that this means quantities of the form

$$d_A^2 \omega = (d + A \wedge)^2 \omega = F \wedge \omega \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{\bullet} T^* \otimes \operatorname{End}(V))$$
(2.44)

are projected out when one takes the quotient by $\Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{\bullet}T^* \otimes \operatorname{End}(V))$. Defining \check{d}_A to be the composition of d_A and projection onto the quotient $\mathcal{A}^{\bullet}(\operatorname{End}V)$, the above arguments establishing that $(\mathcal{A}^{\bullet}(\operatorname{End}V), \check{d}_A)$ is a complex go through exactly as before aside from the small modification that now (2.6) becomes

$$F \wedge \alpha = d_A^2 \alpha = (\check{d}_A^2 \alpha + \eta') + d_A \eta \tag{2.45}$$

Due to (2.44), this still implies that $\check{d}_A^2 \alpha = 0$.

The physical motivation for defining these BPS complexes is that their cohomologies naturally capture the infinitesimal moduli spaces of generalised instanton configurations. These are defined to be field configurations (i.e. connections on V up to global gauge transformations given infinitesimally by $\delta A = \mathrm{d}_A \lambda$ for $\lambda \in \Omega^0(\mathrm{End}V)$) where (2.43) holds. Given such a field configuration, one can consider an infinitesimal deformation of it $\delta A = \alpha \in \Omega^1(\mathrm{End}V)$. The induced infinitesimal change in the curvature is then $\delta F = \mathrm{d}_A \alpha$, so the infinitesimal moduli space is [42]

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{Instanton}} = \frac{\{\alpha : \check{d}_A \alpha = 0\}}{\{\alpha = d_A \lambda\}} = \frac{\ker(\check{d} : \mathcal{A}^1 \to \mathcal{A}^2)}{\operatorname{Im}(\check{d} : \mathcal{A}^0 \to \mathcal{A}^1)} = H^1(\mathcal{A})$$
 (2.46)

One could also wonder why one defines a generalised instanton to be a configuration satisfying (2.43). Firstly, one notes for the four-dimensional case of (2.10) one recovers the usual condition of (anti-)self-dual curvature. As is now well-known, studying the moduli spaces of such objects led to the discovery of Donaldson invariants of four-manifolds [84]. More generally, a natural place where such configurations appear is in supersymmetric solutions to supersymmetric gauge theories on curved manifolds. Indeed, this setup exactly appears as the gauge sector part of the equations defining supersymmetric solutions of heterotic supergravity. In such theories, one can have a supersymmetry generated by a Killing spinor ϵ of the underlying supergravity background. Part of the supersymmetry conditions then become

$$\delta \chi \sim \gamma^{mn} F_{mn} \epsilon = 0 \tag{2.47}$$

where the spinor field χ is the fermionic superpartner of the gauge field. The spinor ϵ defines a G-structure on the manifold where G is the stabiliser of ϵ and in the simplest case ϵ is parallel with respect to the Levi-Civita connection such that the G-structure is torsion-free. Equation (2.47) then states that the two-form curvature F lies in the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} at each

point, which is exactly our condition (2.43) above.⁵ Note that, in the usual cases, such configurations satisfy a BPS bound, see [85] for more details.

2.5 Product manifolds

Another complex one can construct using the above prescription, and one that will preempt some of the double complexes we will produce in later sections, is if the manifold has a product structure with a product metric. Suppose, for example, we have $M = X \times Y$ with $\dim X = m$, $\dim Y = n$, and metric $g_M = g_X + g_Y$. In this case, the structure group reduces

$$SO(d) \to SO(m) \times SO(n)$$
 (2.48)

and the de Rham complex decomposes into a double complex

$$\Lambda^k T^* M \simeq \bigoplus_{k=p+q} \Lambda^p T^* X \otimes \Lambda^q T^* Y, \qquad (2.49)$$

with

$$d_M = d_X + d_Y$$
, $d_X^2 = d_Y^2 = d_X d_Y + d_Y d_X = 0$. (2.50)

Suppose further that the manifolds X, Y have a reduced structure group $G_X \subset SO(m)$, $G_Y \subset SO(n)$. Then it is easy to show that the BPS complex associated to G is the tensor product of the BPS complexes associated to G_X and G_Y . In the notation of section 2.1, we have

$$A_{M}^{k} = \frac{\Lambda^{k} T^{*} M}{\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{k-2} T^{*} M}$$

$$= \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \left(\frac{\Lambda^{p} T^{*} X}{\mathfrak{g}_{X} \wedge \Lambda^{p-2} T^{*} X} \right) \otimes \left(\frac{\Lambda^{q} T^{*} Y}{\mathfrak{g}_{Y} \wedge \Lambda^{q-2} T^{*} Y} \right)$$

$$= \bigoplus_{p+q=k} A_{X}^{p} \otimes A_{Y}^{q}$$

$$(2.51)$$

Furthermore, it easy to see that

$$\dot{\mathbf{d}}_{M} = \dot{\mathbf{d}}_{X} + \dot{\mathbf{d}}_{Y}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{d}}_{X}^{2} = \dot{\mathbf{d}}_{Y}^{2} = \dot{\mathbf{d}}_{X}\dot{\mathbf{d}}_{Y} + \dot{\mathbf{d}}_{Y}\dot{\mathbf{d}}_{X} = 0, \tag{2.52}$$

where d_X is the differential associated to the BPS complex \mathcal{A}_X on X, and similarly for d_Y . Hence, the BPS complex decomposes into a double complex in this case.

It also follows from the representation theory of spinors that if \mathcal{A}_X and \mathcal{A}_Y are spinor complexes, then the total complex \mathcal{A}_M is also a spinor complex. Indeed, the tensor product of two pinor representations (over \mathbb{R}) gives an object on which one can act with the higher-dimensional Clifford algebra, which can be seen explicitly via similar gamma matrix decompositions to those found in appendix A.

⁵Note again that for $G = \mathrm{SU}(N) \subset \mathrm{SO}(2N)$ the supersymmetry condition (2.47) imposes both the holomorphic bundle condition $F^{0,2} = 0$ (F-term) and the hermitian Yang-Mills condition $\omega \,\lrcorner\, F = 0$ (D-term). One expects that the infinitesimal moduli space of such configurations will be that of only the holomorphic bundle condition (F-term) moduli complexified gauge transformations. This will correspond to the cohomology of (2.13) (with values in $\mathrm{End}(V)$), so we use this complex in these cases.

3 BV Chern-Simons theories

In certain cases, the BPS complexes of section 2 occur with a natural graded symplectic pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ (or can be completed to give a natural pairing, see section 6.3) which is compatible with the differential structure. When this happens, the BPS complex can provide the BV complex associated to some QFT. At the quadratic order, these are generally associated to generalisations of Chern-Simons theories. The general construction runs as follows.

Suppose p is such that $\langle \mathcal{A}^p, \mathcal{A}^{p+1} \rangle$ is non-zero. In particular, this requires that the pairing is of degree -(2p+1). Provided the pairing is compatible with the differential, there is a gauge symmetry $f_p \sim \check{\mathrm{d}} f_{p-1}$, and gauge for gauge $f_{p-1} \sim \check{\mathrm{d}} f_{p-2}$, etc. In the BV quantisation we would need to introduce ghosts, and ghosts for ghosts $f_n \in \mathcal{A}^n$ for n < p. For each f_n , we introduce an anti-field $f_{2p+1-n} \in \mathcal{A}^{2p+1-n}$, and we can write the total BV action as

$$S_{\rm BV} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle f, \check{\mathrm{d}} f \right\rangle, \qquad f \in \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} .$$
 (3.1)

Above, we have written $f = f_0 + f_1 + \dots$ for a generic element of the BPS complex.

Since this action is quadratic, it is straightforward to quantise it and find the 1-loop partition function. A detailed discussion of how this is done in the de Rham case is given in e.g. [77], and the procedure works similarly for any case. Due to the alternating statistics of the ghosts and anti-ghosts, the modulus of the 1-loop partition function reduces to an alternating product of determinants of Laplacians $\check{\Delta}_n$ on \mathcal{A}^n . The final result is, in general [86, 87]

$$|Z_{1-\text{loop}}| = \left(\prod_{n=0}^{2p} (\det' \check{\Delta}_n)^{(-1)^n}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}(-1)^{p+1}} = \text{Tor}(\mathcal{A}, \check{\mathbf{d}})^{\frac{1}{2}(-1)^p}$$
(3.2)

where, on the right hand side, we have introduced the definition of the analytic torsion of a complex (\mathcal{A}, \check{d}) .

We will see how this works for various cases below.

3.1 3d abelian Chern-Simons

The 3d abelian Chern-Simons theory is a quadratic theory with the following action.

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} A_1 \wedge dA_1, \qquad A_1 \in \mathcal{A}^1 = \Omega^1(M)$$
 (3.3)

This has a 0-form gauge symmetry and so we need to introduce a ghost field $A_0 \in \Omega^0$, and antifields $A_n \in \Omega^n(M)$ where n = 2, 3. The Grassman statistics of the fields satisfy $\epsilon(A_n) = (-1)^{n+1}$. The quadratic BV action for this theory is then given by

$$S_{\rm BV} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle A, \check{d}A \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \int_M A \wedge dA, \qquad A \in \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} = \Omega^{\bullet}(M)$$
 (3.4)

where integration over the top-form component is implied. In this case, it is clear that the BV complex is just the de Rham complex, and the symplectic pairing is $\langle A, A' \rangle = \int_M A \wedge A'$. This is the BPS complex associated with the trivial structure group G = 1. In this case, the 1-loop partition function gives the Ray-Singer torsion of the 3-manifold M [1].

⁶Note that by Stiefel's theorem, every orientable compact three-dimensional manifold is parallelisable [88].

3.2 Holomorphic Chern-Simons

Holomorphic Chern-Simons on a Calabi-Yau 3-fold works analogously. The quadratic action is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} A_{0,1} \wedge \bar{\partial} A_{0,1} \wedge \Omega, \qquad A_{0,1} \in \mathcal{A}^{1} = \Omega^{0,1}(M)$$
 (3.5)

We need to introduce ghosts and anti-fields $A_{0,n} \in \Omega^{0,n}(M)$ with statistics $\epsilon(A_{0,n}) = (-1)^{n+1}$. The quadratic BV action then becomes

$$S_{\rm BV} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle A, \check{\mathrm{d}} A \right\rangle_{\Omega} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} A \wedge \bar{\partial} A \wedge \Omega \,, \qquad A \in \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} = \Omega^{0, \bullet}(M) \tag{3.6}$$

In this case, the BV complex is the BPS complex associated to the Kähler structure of the Calabi-Yau with G = U(3), as in (2.13) and the surrounding discussion. The symplectic pairing is the wedge-product followed by integration against the holomorphic top-form. Note that compatibility of the symplectic pairing with the differential $\bar{\partial}$ requires that Ω is a holomorphic section of $\Omega^{3,0}(M)$, and hence we require a fully integrable SU(3) structure, not just U(3) structure, to recover the holomorphic Chern-Simons theory. Here, the 1-loop partition function gives the holomorphic Ray-Singer torsion of the Calabi-Yau 3-fold [72].

3.3 G_2 Chern-Simons

There is a similar theory of G_2 instantons [73, 74] (further discussion can be found in e.g. [26, 89, 90]). The quadratic action is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} A \wedge dA \wedge *\varphi, \qquad A \in \mathcal{A}^{1} = \Omega^{1}(M)$$
(3.7)

where $\varphi \in \Omega^3(M)$ is the G_2 three-form. We need to introduce ghosts and anti-fields $A_n \in \mathcal{A}^n$ with statistics $\epsilon(A_n) = (-1)^{n+1}$. The quadratic BV action then becomes

$$S_{\rm BV} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle A, \check{d}A \right\rangle_{\varphi} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} A \wedge \check{d}A \wedge *\varphi \,, \qquad A \in \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} \tag{3.8}$$

Here, the BV complex is simply the BPS complex for a G_2 manifold, and the symplectic pairing is the wedge product followed by integration with $*\varphi$. In this action, one could in fact use the usual exterior derivative instead of \check{d} and the presence of $*\varphi$ will project dA onto the relevant representation in A.

3.4 4d Chern-Simons

In [75], a 4-dimensional version of Chern-Simons was put forward via a holomorphic twist of a 4-dimensional theory. It is defined on a manifold of the form $M = C \times \Sigma$, where $C = \mathbb{R}^2$ or $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}$, and Σ is a Riemann surface. To define the action, we require a meromorphic 1-form $\omega = \omega(z) dz$ on Σ , where z is a holomorphic coordinate. The quadratic action is then given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \omega \wedge A_1 \wedge dA_1, \qquad A_1 \in \Omega^1(M)$$
(3.9)

Note that, because of the non-dynamical 1-form ω , the $A_z dz$ component of A_1 drops out, and we can view $A \in \Gamma(\Lambda^1_{\mathbb{C}}(C) \oplus \Lambda^{0,1}(\Sigma))$.

To find the BV action, and relate this to the BPS complexes we have been discussing previously, we note that the background $C \times \Sigma$ has a natural $\mathbb{1} \times \mathrm{U}(1) \subset \mathrm{SO}(2) \times \mathrm{SO}(2) \subset \mathrm{SO}(4)$ structure. The associated BPS complex consists of sections of the bundles

$$A^{0} = \Lambda^{0}_{\mathbb{C}}, \qquad A^{1} = \Lambda^{1}_{\mathbb{C}}(C) \oplus \Lambda^{0,1}(\Sigma), A^{2} = \Lambda^{2}_{\mathbb{C}}(C) \oplus \left(\Lambda^{1}_{\mathbb{C}}(C) \otimes \Lambda^{0,1}(\Sigma)\right), \quad A^{3} = \Lambda^{2}_{\mathbb{C}}(C) \otimes \Lambda^{0,1}(\Sigma),$$

$$(3.10)$$

and the differential is

$$\check{\mathbf{d}} = \mathbf{d}_C + \bar{\partial}_{\Sigma} \tag{3.11}$$

We can think of this as a double complex, as in section 2.5, with the left and right differentials d_C and $\bar{\partial}_{\Sigma}$ respectively. To write down the BV action, we require a graded symplectic pairing which is compatible with the differential. Such a pairing is not unique, but is instead defined by an element $\omega \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma)$, which must be $d_C + \bar{\partial}_{\Sigma}$ closed, up to possible δ -function contributions at the poles of ω .⁷ The full BV action can then easily be written as

$$S_{\rm BV} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle A, \check{\mathrm{d}} A \right\rangle_{\omega} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \omega \wedge A \wedge \check{\mathrm{d}} A, \qquad A \in \mathcal{A}^{\bullet}$$
 (3.12)

Restricted to degree 1, this reproduces the 4d Chern-Simons action (3.9), as required.

4 Gravitational BPS complex

To build the gravitational BPS complex associated to a torsion-free G structure, we start from the graded vector space $\Omega^{\bullet}(TM)$. This does not carry a natural differential. One then views $\mathfrak{gl}(TM) \simeq \Lambda^1(T^*) \otimes T$ in the same way as one identified $\mathfrak{so}(TM) \simeq \Lambda^2T^*$ in section 2. Given a G-structure, one can then view $\mathfrak{g} \subset \Lambda^1T^* \otimes T$ and form A as the quotient of $\Lambda^{\bullet}T^* \otimes T$ by $\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{\bullet}T^*$, and again set $\mathcal{A} := \Gamma(A)$. The first terms of this complex are then⁸

$$0 \to \Gamma(TM) \to \Gamma(\mathfrak{gl}(TM)/\mathfrak{g}) \to \Gamma(T^{(\mathrm{int})}) \to \dots$$
 (4.1)

The third term here requires a little explanation. Consider a tensor $\Sigma \in \Omega^1(\mathfrak{gl}(TM))$ which can be thought of as the difference of two connections on the tangent bundle. We define a map $\tau \colon T^* \otimes (T \otimes T^*) \to T \otimes \Lambda^2 T^*$ to give the difference of the torsions of the two connections, i.e. with respect to any frame $\{\hat{e}_a\}$ for the tangent bundle

$$\tau(\Sigma)^a{}_{bc} = -2\Sigma_{[b}{}^a{}_{c]} \tag{4.2}$$

This map restricts to a map τ on $T^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$. We then have an exact sequence of bundles

$$0 \to \ker(\tau|) \stackrel{\iota}{\to} T^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \stackrel{\tau|}{\to} T \otimes \Lambda^2 T^* \stackrel{\pi}{\to} T^{(\text{int})}(\tau|) \to 0 \tag{4.3}$$

where we have defined the bundle

$$T^{(\text{int})} = \operatorname{coker}(\tau|) = (T \otimes \Lambda^2 T^*) / \operatorname{Im}(\tau|)$$
(4.4)

 $^{^{7}}$ If this is the case, then one must carefully define boundary conditions for the field A. See e.g. [91].

⁸A similar complex to this also appears in [92].

Given a G-compatible connection, the projection of the torsion of this connection onto $T^{(\text{int})}$ does not change if one shifts to a different G-compatible connection by adding to it a tensor $\Sigma \in \Omega^1(\mathfrak{g})$. Therefore, it is independent of the choice of G compatible connection and represents a property of the G-structure itself. It is called the intrinsic torsion of the structure, and can be thought of as a part of the torsion which is common to all connections compatible with the G-structure.

Given a torsion-free G-compatible connection $\hat{\nabla}$, we can define on $\alpha \in \Omega^k(TM)$

$$(\hat{\mathbf{d}}\alpha)^{m}_{n_{1}...n_{k+1}} = (k+1)\hat{\nabla}_{[n_{1}}\alpha^{m}_{n_{2}...n_{k+1}]}$$
(4.5)

As the connection is compatible, and thus preserves G representations, this can then be projected onto the quotient complex to define an operator d on the quotient complex \mathcal{A} as in section 2. One can see that this is independent of the choice of torsion-free compatible connection and thus d is a natural operator on the complex. First, if one shifts the torsion-free compatible connection by a torsion-free tensor $\Sigma \in \Omega^1(\mathfrak{g})$ then the shift of the operator d acting on $\alpha \in \Omega^k(TM)$ representing an element of \mathcal{A}^k is

$$\delta(\hat{d}\alpha)^{m}{}_{n_{1}...n_{k+1}} = (k+1)(\Sigma_{[n_{1}} \cdot \alpha)^{m}{}_{n_{2}...n_{k+1}]}$$

$$= (k+1)\Sigma_{[n_{1}}{}^{m}{}_{|p|}\alpha^{p}{}_{n_{2}...n_{k+1}]} - k(k+1)\Sigma_{[n_{1}}{}^{p}{}_{n_{2}}\alpha^{m}{}_{|p|...n_{k+1}]}$$

$$= (k+1)\Sigma_{p}{}^{m}{}_{[n_{1}}\alpha^{p}{}_{n_{2}...n_{k+1}]}$$

$$(4.6)$$

which lies in $\Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^k T^*)$ and is thus annihilated on projection to \mathcal{A} .

Further one can check that $\check{d}^2 = 0$ via the same proof as in section 2. For $\alpha \in \Omega^k(TM)$ representing a class in \mathcal{A}^k , one has

$$(\hat{d}^{2}\alpha)^{m}{}_{n_{1}...n_{k+2}} = (k+1)(k+2)\hat{\nabla}_{[n_{1}}\hat{\nabla}_{n_{2}}\alpha^{m}{}_{n_{3}...n_{k+2}]}$$

$$= (k+1)(k+2)R_{[n_{1}n_{2}}{}^{m}{}_{|p|}\alpha^{p}{}_{n_{3}...n_{k+2}]}$$

$$- k(k+1)(k+2)R_{[n_{1}n_{2}}{}^{p}{}_{n_{3}}\alpha^{m}{}_{|p|n_{4}...n_{k+2}]}$$

$$= -2(k+1)(k+2)R_{p[n_{1}}{}^{m}{}_{n_{2}}\alpha^{p}{}_{n_{3}...n_{k+2}]}$$

$$(4.7)$$

where we have used the Bianchi identity $R_{[mn}{}^p{}_{q]} = 0$. Since the Riemann tensor is a section of $\Lambda^2 T^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$, we have $\check{\mathrm{d}}^2 \alpha \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{k+1} T^*)$. One can then write

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}}\alpha = \check{\mathbf{d}}\alpha + \eta \tag{4.8}$$

for $\eta \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^k T^*)$ and then

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}}^2 \alpha = \check{\mathbf{d}}^2 \alpha + \eta' + \hat{\mathbf{d}} \eta \tag{4.9}$$

for $\eta' \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{k+1}T^*)$. Projecting this equation onto the quotient \mathcal{A}^{k+2} one thus arrives at $\check{d}^2 = 0$ on \mathcal{A} .

One can interpret this BPS complex as follows. Consider a G-frame $\{\hat{e}_a\}$ for the tangent bundle, which is a local section of the principal sub-bundle of the frame bundle corresponding to the G-structure. (In these frames, the components of all invariant tensors of G take a specific set of constant values so that the matrix representation of the structure group G is also the same at all points.)

For simplicity of exposition⁹ we assume reducibility of $\mathfrak{gl}(d,\mathbb{R})$ under the subalgebra \mathfrak{g} so that

$$\mathfrak{gl}(d,\mathbb{R}) = \mathfrak{g} \oplus K \tag{4.10}$$

for K some representation of \mathfrak{g} . An infinitesimal variation of the G-structure then corresponds to defining a new frame $\{\hat{e}'_a\}$ for the deformed G-structure, which we can write as

$$\hat{e}_a' = \hat{e}_a + X^b{}_a \hat{e}_b \tag{4.11}$$

for components $X^a{}_b$ in K at each point. The tensor X thus defines an element of \mathcal{A}^1 . Suppose we have a compatible connection ∇ . For a vector field $v = v^c \hat{e}_c$ we then have

$$\nabla_v \hat{e}_a = v^c \nabla_{\hat{e}_c} \hat{e}_a = v^c \omega_c^b{}_a \hat{e}_b =: \omega_v^b{}_a \hat{e}_b$$

$$\tag{4.12}$$

where the components of ω_v lie in \mathfrak{g} . We then look at deforming the connection ∇ to $\nabla' = \nabla + \Sigma$ for $\Sigma \in \Omega^1(\mathfrak{gl}(TM))$. Then

$$\omega_{v\ a}^{\prime\ b}\hat{e}_{b}^{\prime} = \nabla_{v}^{\prime}\hat{e}_{a}^{\prime} = \nabla_{v}\hat{e}_{a}^{\prime} + \Sigma_{v\ a}^{\ b}\hat{e}_{b}^{\prime} \tag{4.13}$$

and we have

$$\nabla_{v}\hat{e}'_{a} = \nabla_{v}(\hat{e}_{a} + X^{b}{}_{a}\hat{e}_{b})
= \omega_{v}{}^{b}{}_{a}\hat{e}_{b} + (\partial_{v}X^{b}{}_{a})\hat{e}_{b} + X^{b}{}_{a}\omega_{v}{}^{c}{}_{b}\hat{e}_{c}
= \omega_{v}{}^{b}{}_{a}(\hat{e}'_{b} - X^{c}{}_{b}\hat{e}'_{c}) + (\partial_{v}X^{b}{}_{a} + \omega_{v}{}^{b}{}_{c}X^{c}{}_{a})\hat{e}'_{b} + O(X^{2})
= (\omega_{v}{}^{b}{}_{a} + \nabla_{v}X^{b}{}_{a})\hat{e}'_{b} + O(X^{2})$$
(4.14)

Note that in these equations, the components of ω_v are naturally the components of the connection ∇ with respect to the original frame \hat{e}_a , while the components of ω'_v of ∇' and the tensor Σ are taken with respect to the \hat{e}'_a frame. We thus have that to first order in X the variation of the connection is given by:

$$\omega_v'{}^a{}_b - \omega_v{}^a{}_b = \Sigma_v{}^a{}_b + (\nabla_v X)^a{}_b \tag{4.15}$$

We require that ω_v and ω_v' lie in \mathfrak{g} and therefore so must $\Sigma_v + \nabla_v X$. If we write

$$\Sigma = \Sigma^{(\mathfrak{g})} + \Sigma^{(K)} \tag{4.16}$$

then we have that

$$\Sigma_v^{(K)} = -\nabla_v X \tag{4.17}$$

We then define the map τ as above and $\tau^{(int)} = \pi \circ \tau$ and have

$$\tau^{(\text{int})}(\Sigma) = \tau^{(\text{int})}(\Sigma^{(\mathfrak{g})} + \Sigma^{(K)}) = \tau^{(\text{int})}(\Sigma^{(K)}) = \pi(\tau(\Sigma^{(K)}))$$

$$= \mathcal{P}_{A^2}\left(\frac{1}{2}(2\nabla_{[b}X^a_{\ c]})\,\hat{e}_a \otimes (e^b \wedge e^c)\right)$$

$$= \check{d}X$$

$$(4.18)$$

⁹This is not necessary: one can instead work via projections onto the quotient $\mathfrak{gl}(d,\mathbb{R})/\mathfrak{g}$.

so that dX is the intrinsic torsion of the new G-structure to first order in X.

Next, we consider what it means for X to be exact. If we act with an infinitesimal diffeomorphism generated by a vector field v on our frame, we have

$$\delta \hat{e}_a = \mathcal{L}_v \hat{e}_a = \mathcal{L}_v^{\nabla} \hat{e}_a = \nabla_v \hat{e}_a - (\nabla \times v) \cdot \hat{e}_a = (\omega_v{}^b{}_a - \nabla_a v^b) \hat{e}_b$$
 (4.19)

where here we used the notation $\nabla \times v$ for ∇v viewed as an endomorphism of TM. Now, as ω_v lies in \mathfrak{g} an infinitesimal rotation of the frame by ω_v merely results in a new frame compatible with the original G-structure and thus does not change the G-structure itself. Therefore, for our purposes here we can discard this part of the variation. The last term in (4.19), however, does contain a part which appears to change the G-structure. This is the part of $\nabla \times v$ with components in K, which is precisely dv. Therefore, G-structures which are related by an infinitesimal diffeomorphism have

$$X = \check{\mathrm{d}}v \tag{4.20}$$

for some vector field v.

We thus see that the infinitesimal moduli space of torsion-free G-structures is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{G\text{-str}} = \frac{\{X : \check{d}X = 0\}}{\{X = \check{d}v\}} = H^1(\mathcal{A})$$

$$(4.21)$$

exactly as for (2.46).

For example, one can consider the case of a $\mathrm{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$ structure on a 2n-dimensional manifold, corresponding to a complex structure. In this case one has that $\mathfrak{g} \sim \left[((T^*)^{1,0} \otimes T^{1,0}) \oplus ((T^*)^{0,1} \otimes T^{0,1}) \right]_{\mathbb{R}}$, so that projecting out $\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{\bullet} T^*$ we are left with the BPS complex \mathcal{A}^{\bullet} with

$$\mathcal{A}^{k} = \left[\Omega^{0,k}(T^{1,0}) \oplus \Omega^{k,0}(T^{0,1}) \right]_{\mathbb{P}}, \tag{4.22}$$

with the differential given by the usual $\bar{\partial}$ on $\Omega^{0,k}(T^{1,0})$ and ∂ on $\Omega^{k,0}(T^{0,1})$. As for the discussion of the usual Dolbeault complexes of forms in section 2 above, we tend to use the complex parameterisation of this complex and simply write it as

$$(\mathcal{A}^{\bullet}, \check{\mathbf{d}}) = (\Omega^{0,k}(T^{1,0}), \bar{\partial}) \tag{4.23}$$

This BPS complex is of course well-known in the study of complex structures (see e.g. [93]). Indeed, $\mu \in \Omega^{0,1}(T^{1,0})$ provides a Beltrami differential, deforming the complex structure via

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}'^{\bar{a}}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^{\bar{a}}} + \mu^b{}_{\bar{a}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^b} \tag{4.24}$$

and in the infinitesimal case, such a deformation is induced by an infinitesimal diffeomorphism if

$$\mu = \bar{\partial}\epsilon \qquad \quad \epsilon \in \Gamma(T^{1,0}) \tag{4.25}$$

The condition that $[T^{0,1},T^{0,1}]\subset T^{0,1}$ then comes out to be

$$\bar{\partial}\mu = 0 \tag{4.26}$$

so that indeed the infinitesimal moduli space of complex structures is given by the first cohomology as above.

In the above example, the structure group $GL(n,\mathbb{C})$ does not preserve a metric. In general, given a torsion-free G-structure on TM, the Riemann tensor $R \in \Omega^2(\mathfrak{g})$. If G preserves a metric, i.e. $G \subset SO(d)$ as we assumed in section 2, then $R_{mnpq} = R_{pqmn}$ and we have $R \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \otimes \mathfrak{g}) \subset \Omega^2(\mathfrak{g})$. Thus for metric G-structures, one has a close analogue of (2.43).

5 The BPS complex for Courant algebroids and supergravity

We now proceed to mimic the construction of section 4 in generalised geometry. We will see that this produces a natural BPS complex associated to torsion-free generalised G-structures, one of whose cohomology groups will later be seen to give the infinitesimal moduli space of such structures in section 6.1. For particular types of structure which preserve a generalised metric, we will see that the BPS complex becomes a double complex, which is a tensor product of BPS complexes of the type considered in section 2. We show that these satisfy Kähler type identities in general. There is also a notion of spinor-type complexes in generalised geometry, which have the further interesting properties that the left and right Laplacian operators are equal, and thus they satisfy $\partial\bar{\partial}$ -type lemmas.

We start with the tensor hierarchy (excluding dilaton terms) for O(d,d) generalised geometry. This is simply the graded vector space $\Gamma(\Lambda^{\bullet}E)$ where $E \simeq T \oplus T^*$ is the generalised tangent bundle. In fact, one can also consider the case of O(d,d+n) generalised geometry for heterotic supergravity where $E \simeq T \oplus \operatorname{End}(V) \oplus T^*$ for a gauge bundle $\operatorname{End}(V)$, or more generally any Courant algebroid. Similarly to the gravitational construction of section 4, the graded vector space $\Gamma(\Lambda^{\bullet}E)$ does not carry a natural differential. However, we will consider the case where E has a torsion-free generalised G-structure [54] and take a quotient of $\Lambda^{\bullet}E$ by $\mathfrak{g} \wedge \Lambda^{\bullet}E$ viewing $\mathfrak{g} \subset \Lambda^2E \sim \mathfrak{so}(d,d+n)$. We will then find that the sections of this quotient have a natural differential as in the previous section.

Demonstrating the existence of the differential and deriving its properties is slightly harder than in the constructions of the previous sections, in large part due to the complications of defining a Riemann tensor in generalised geometry. In this section, we explain how the complex is constructed for any generalised G-structure in O(d, d+n) generalised geometry, and go on to show that for a large class of structure groups which preserve a generalised metric one in fact obtains a double complex satisfying Kähler type identities. Further, as SO(d, d+n) is an orthogonal group, it has spin representations and there is an analogue of the spinor type complexes of section 2. The generalised-metric-compatible cases of these turn out to have the property that the two natural Laplacians on the double complex are equal, which is the analogue of the statement that $\Delta_{\partial} = \Delta_{\bar{\partial}}$ in ordinary Kähler geometry.

A quick note on notation and conventions in this section. We shall use e to denote vectors in a local frame of the Courant algebroid E. Since $E \cong E^*$, we shall not distinguish between their frames. Uppercase Roman indices e_A will denote an arbitrary frame and indices will be raised and lowered with the canonical inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. Lowercase Roman indices $e_a, e_{\bar{a}}$ will denote frames of C_{\pm} respectively, which are the positive and negative eigenbundles of the generalised metric.

5.1 Preliminaries

5.1.1 Courant algebroids

Let us start setting the stage by introducing Courant algebroids [94] and discussing some of their basic properties.

A Courant algebroid is a vector bundle $E \to M$ equipped with

- a bracket $[\cdot,\cdot]:\Gamma(E)\times\Gamma(E)\to\Gamma(E)$
- a fiberwise non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form $\langle \; \cdot \; , \; \cdot \; \rangle$
- a vector bundle map $\rho \colon E \to TM$

satisfying the following conditions for all $u, v, w \in \Gamma(E)$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$:

$$[u, [v, w]] = [[u, v], w] + [v, [u, w]], \qquad [u, fv] = f[u, v] + (\rho(u)f)v, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\rho(u)\langle v, w \rangle = \langle [u, v], w \rangle + \langle v, [u, w] \rangle, \qquad [u, v] + [v, u] = \rho^* d\langle u, v \rangle, \tag{5.2}$$

where $\rho^* : T^*M \to E^*$ is the transpose of ρ , and we used the identification $E \cong E^*$ provided by the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. Note that, in parallel with ordinary geometry we will also use the notation $L_u v := [u, v]$ and call L the Dorfman derivative.

Various other properties can be derived from these axioms, such as

$$\rho([u,v]) = [\rho(u), \rho(v)] \tag{5.3}$$

or $\rho \circ \rho^* = 0$. The latter property can be rephrased as the statement that

$$0 \to T^*M \xrightarrow{\rho^*} E \xrightarrow{\rho} TM \to 0 \tag{5.4}$$

is a chain complex. When this is in fact an exact sequence, we say that the Courant algebroid is *exact*. More generally, if the complex is exact in the last (or equivalently in the first) point, i.e. when ρ is surjective, we say that the algebroid is *transitive*.

An example of an exact Courant algebroid is given by

$$E = TM \oplus T^*M, \tag{5.5}$$

equipped with

$$\langle X + \alpha, Y + \beta \rangle = \alpha(Y) + \beta(X), \qquad \rho(X + \alpha) = X,$$
 (5.6)

$$[X + \alpha, Y + \beta] = \mathcal{L}_X Y + (\mathcal{L}_X \beta - i_Y d\alpha + H(X, Y, \cdot)), \tag{5.7}$$

where H is closed 3-form. In fact, one can show [95, 96] that every exact Courant algebroid is of this form, for some H.

More generally, starting from an arbitrary principal G-bundle $P \to M$ with vanishing first Pontryagin class w.r.t. an invariant pairing on \mathfrak{g} , one can construct a transitive Courant algebroid structure on

$$E = TM \oplus \operatorname{ad}(P) \oplus T^*M. \tag{5.8}$$

Every transitive Courant algebroid is locally of this form [95, 96].

Returning now to the general case, let e_A be a local frame for which $\langle e_A, e_B \rangle$ are constant functions. It is then easy to see that the structure coefficients

$$c_{ABC} := \langle [e_A, e_B], e_C \rangle \tag{5.9}$$

are completely antisymmetric. The Jacobi identity can then be written as

$$\rho(e_{[A})c_{BC]E} + c_{D[AB}c_{C]}^{\ \ D}_{E} - \frac{1}{3}\rho(e_{E})c_{ABC} = 0.$$
 (5.10)

Note that in this section all the indices will always be raised/lowered with $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and we will freely assume the identification $E \cong E^*$ provided by this pairing.

5.1.2 Generalised metrics, connections, and G-structures

The analogue of an ordinary metric is provided by a generalised metric \mathcal{G} , which is a symmetric endomorphism (vector bundle map) of E satisfying $\mathcal{G}^2 = 1$. We will denote the ± 1 -eigenbundles of \mathcal{G} by C_{\pm} . Note that

$$E = C_+ \oplus C_- \tag{5.11}$$

is an orthogonal decomposition. Conversely, any orthogonal decomposition (5.11) corresponds to a generalised metric \mathcal{G} . Generalised metric is thus equivalent to the choice of a subbundle $C_+ \subset E$ for which $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle|_{C_+}$ is non-degenerate.

As an example, any choice of metric g and 2-form B on M defines a generalised metric on the exact Courant algebroid (5.5) by

$$C_{+} := \operatorname{graph}(g+B) = \{X + (g(X, \cdot) + B(X, \cdot)) \mid X \in TM\}.$$
 (5.12)

Similarly, one can encode the data of g, B, and a connection A using a generalised metric on a transitive Courant algebroid.

If the signature of the pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is (p,q), the Courant algebroid naturally has a reduced structure group $O(p,q) \subset \operatorname{GL}(p+q,\mathbb{R})$. A choice of a generalised metric breaks this group down further to the product of the orthogonal group corresponding to the decomposition (5.11). In particular, if the induced pairing on C_+ and C_- is positive and negative definite, respectively, then the group reduces as

$$O(p,q) \to O(p) \times O(q).$$
 (5.13)

For any subgroup $G \subset O(p,q)$, a generalised G-structure is a reduction of the structure group from O(p,q) to G. In particular, if $G \subset O(p) \times O(q)$ then a generalised G-structure induces a generalised metric of the above type. Note that since any local G-frame is also an O(p,q)-frame, the functions $\langle e_A, e_B \rangle$ are automatically constant.

Quite analogously to the standard case, we define (Courant algebroid) connections [97] as operators D satisfying

$$D_{fu}v = fD_{u}v, \quad D_{u}(fv) = fD_{u}v + (\rho(u)f)v, \quad \rho(u)\langle v, w \rangle = \langle D_{u}v, w \rangle + \langle v, D_{u}w \rangle.$$
 (5.14)

Defining the action of D on functions by $D_u f := \rho(u) f$ and using the Leibniz rule, we can act with D on an arbitrary section of the tensor products of E.

A torsion of D is the tensor [97]

$$T_D(u,v) = D_u v - D_v u - [u,v] + \langle Du, v \rangle. \tag{5.15}$$

It is easy to see that $T \in \Gamma(\Lambda^3 E)$. A connection D is called *Levi-Civita* if it has vanishing torsion and $D\mathcal{G} = 0$.

Finally, a generalised G-structure is called *torsion-free* if it admits a torsion-free connection preserving the generalised G-structure. For instance, any generalised metric is torsion-free [98].

5.1.3 Riemann tensor

For any torsion-free connection D we define the Riemann tensor [99]

$$R(w, z, x, y) := \frac{1}{2} w^D y^B (x^A [D_A, D_B] z_D + z^A [D_A, D_D] x_B - (D_A x_B) (D^A z_D)).$$
 (5.16)

It is not difficult to see that this indeed defines a tensor with the following symmetries:

$$R_{ABCD} = R_{[AB|CD} = R_{AB[CD]} = R_{CDAB}.$$
 (5.17)

The algebraic Bianchi identity [100, 101]

$$R_{[ABC]D} = 0. (5.18)$$

is more involved. Too see this, note that due to the other symmetries this statement is equivalent to $R_{[ABCD]} = 0$. First, picking a local frame with $\langle e_A, e_B \rangle$ constant, we calculate

$$D_{A}D_{B}(e_{C})_{D} = (D_{e_{A}}D_{e_{B}}e_{C})_{D} - (D_{D_{e_{A}}e_{B}}e_{C})_{D} = (D_{e_{A}}(\Gamma_{B}{}^{E}{}_{C}e_{E}))_{D} - \Gamma_{A}{}^{E}{}_{B}(D_{e_{E}}e_{C})_{D}$$
$$= \rho(e_{A})\Gamma_{BDC} + \Gamma_{ADE}\Gamma_{B}{}^{E}{}_{C} - \Gamma_{A}{}^{E}{}_{B}\Gamma_{EDC},$$

Using the torsion-free condition $2\Gamma_{[AB]C} + \Gamma_{CAB} = -c_{ABC}$ twice in a row we get

$$\begin{split} R_{[DCAB]} &= 2(e_{[A]})^E D_E D_{[B}(e_C)_{D]} - \frac{1}{2} (D_E(e_{[A})_B) (D^E(e_C)_{D]}) \\ &= 2D_{[A} D_B(e_C)_{D]} - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{E[BA} \Gamma^E_{DC]} \\ &= -2\rho(e_{[A}) \Gamma_{BCD]} - 2\Gamma_{[AB}{}^E \Gamma_{CD]E} + 2\Gamma_{E[AB} \Gamma_{C}{}^E_{D]} - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{E[AB} \Gamma^E_{CD]} \\ &= \frac{2}{3} \rho(e_{[A}) c_{BCD]} + (\Gamma^E_{[AB} \Gamma_{CD]E} + c_{[AB}{}^E \Gamma_{CD]E}) \\ &+ 2\Gamma_{E[AB} \Gamma_{C}{}^E_{D]} + \frac{1}{2} (2\Gamma_{[AB|E]} \Gamma^E_{CD]} + c_{[AB|E]} \Gamma^E_{CD]}) \\ &= \frac{2}{3} \rho(e_{[A}) c_{BCD]} + c_{[AB}{}^E \Gamma_{CD]E} + \frac{1}{2} c_{[AB|E]} \Gamma^E_{CD]} \\ &= \frac{2}{3} \rho(e_{[A}) c_{BCD]} - \frac{1}{2} c_{[AB}{}^E c_{CD]E}, \end{split}$$

which vanishes by the Jacobi identity (5.10).

5.1.4 Curvature operator

Let D be a Levi-Civita connection for a generalised metric \mathcal{G} . Define the curvature operator [51]

$$R: \Gamma(C_{+}) \times \Gamma(C_{-}) \to \text{Der}(E), \qquad R(x_{+}, y_{-}) := x_{+}^{a} y_{-}^{\bar{a}}[D_{a}, D_{\bar{a}}],$$
 (5.19)

where Der(E) stands for degree 0 derivations of the algebra $\Gamma(\Lambda^{\bullet}E)$. We can also rewrite this as follows:

$$R(x_{+}, y_{-}) = x_{+}^{a} y_{-}^{\bar{a}} ([D_{e_{a}}, D_{e_{\bar{a}}}] - D_{D_{e_{a}} e_{\bar{a}} - D_{e_{\bar{a}}} e_{a}}) = x_{+}^{a} y_{-}^{\bar{a}} ([D_{e_{a}}, D_{e_{\bar{a}}}] - D_{[e_{a}, e_{\bar{a}}]}),$$
 (5.20)

where we used $x_+^a y_-^{\bar{a}} \langle De_a, e_{\bar{a}} \rangle = 0$. From this it follows that $R(x_+, y_-)$ vanishes on $C^{\infty}(M) \cong \Gamma(\Lambda^0 E)$ and hence is a purely algebraic operator,

$$R(x_+, y_-) \in \Gamma(\text{End}(E)). \tag{5.21}$$

Explicitly, we have

$$[D_a, D_{\bar{a}}]^A{}_B = 2R_{a\bar{a}}{}^A{}_B. (5.22)$$

Suppose now that we have a torsion-free generalised G-structure, where $G \subset O(p) \times O(q)$. Let D be a torsion-free compatible connection and e_A a local G-frame. Then an easy calculation shows that

$$[D_a, D_{\bar{a}}] = \rho(e_a)\Gamma_{\bar{a}} - \rho(e_{\bar{a}})\Gamma_a + [\Gamma_a, \Gamma_{\bar{a}}] - c_{a\bar{a}}{}^A\Gamma_A, \qquad (\Gamma_A)^B{}_C := \Gamma_A{}^B{}_C. \tag{5.23}$$

Since in a G-frame we have $\Gamma_A \in \mathfrak{g}$, we in particular obtain

$$R(x_+, y_-) \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g}) \subset \Gamma(\text{End}(E)).$$
 (5.24)

5.2 The BPS complex for torsion-free generalised G-structures

Suppose now that we have a torsion-free generalised G-structure. Set $F := \Lambda^{\bullet}E$, $F^{p} := \Lambda^{p}E$, and with the corresponding spaces of sections denoted \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{p} , respectively. Just as before, we define $A := F/(\mathfrak{g} \wedge F)$ and $\mathcal{A} := \Gamma(A)$.

Let D be a torsion-free compatible generalised connection. This gives a derivation

$$\hat{D} \colon \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}, \qquad (\hat{D}\omega)_{AB...C} := (p+1)D_{[A}\omega_{B...C]} \quad \text{for } \omega \in \mathcal{F}^p.$$
 (5.25)

In particular we have $\hat{D}f = \rho^*(df)$. Taking e_A any G-frame, the compatibility of D means $\Gamma_{ABC}e^B\otimes e^C\in \mathfrak{g}\subset F$, while torsion-freeness corresponds to $c_{ABC}=-3\Gamma_{[ABC]}$. Note that the antisymmetry in the last two indices gives $\Gamma_{[ABC]}=\frac{2}{3}\Gamma_{[AB]C}+\frac{1}{3}\Gamma_{CAB}$.

We claim that \hat{D} preserves $\mathfrak{g} \wedge F$ so that \hat{D} descends to a well-defined operator \check{D} on \mathcal{A} . This follows exactly as for the ordinary case of section 2. The connection D preserves G-representations, so that if $\alpha \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g})$ then $D_{e_A}\alpha \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g})$ and so $\hat{D}\alpha = e^A \wedge D_{e_A}\alpha \in \Gamma(E \wedge \mathfrak{g})$. The result then follows from the fact that \hat{D} is a derivation of the wedge product on \mathcal{F} .

Denoting equality up to an element of $\Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge F)$ by \equiv , we have

$$\hat{D}e_A = \Gamma_{[CB]A}e^C \wedge e^B = \left(\frac{3}{2}\Gamma_{[CBA]} - \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{ACB}\right)e^C \wedge e^B \equiv -\frac{1}{2}c_{CBA}e^C \wedge e^B, \tag{5.26}$$

which shows that the induced operator \check{D} is actually independent of the choice of D. Finally, let us show that \check{D} is a differential,

$$\check{D}^2 = 0. (5.27)$$

Since $\hat{D}^2 = \frac{1}{2}[\hat{D}, \hat{D}]$ is a derivation, it suffices to check that $\hat{D}^2 f$ and $\hat{D}^2 e_A$ both lie in $\Gamma(\mathfrak{g} \wedge F)$. For the former we have

$$\hat{D}^2 f = \hat{D}(e^A \rho(e_A) f) \equiv -\frac{1}{2} c_{CB}^{\ A} e^C \wedge e^B \rho(e_A) f - e^A \wedge e^B \rho(e_B) \rho(e_A) f,$$

which vanishes due to $[\rho(e_B), \rho(e_A)] = \rho([e_B, e_A]) = c_{BA}{}^C \rho(e_C)$. For the latter,

$$\hat{D}^2 e_A \equiv -\frac{1}{2} \hat{D}(c_{CBA} e^C \wedge e^B) = \left(-\frac{1}{2} \rho(e_D) c_{CBA} + \frac{1}{2} c_{EBA} c_{DC}^E\right) e^D \wedge e^C \wedge e^B$$
$$= -\frac{1}{6} \rho(e_A) c_{DCB} e^D \wedge e^C \wedge e^B \equiv 0,$$

where we have used the Jacobi identity (5.10).

Thus we have a natural complex (A, \check{D}) associated to our torsion-free generalised Gstructure, which is our BPS complex in this setting.

5.3 The $G_+ \times G_-$ double complex and Kähler identities

Suppose we have a Courant algebroid E of signature (n_+, n_-) , and a torsion-free G-structure, where $G = G_+ \times G_-$, with $G_\pm \subset O(n_\pm)$. This induces a positive-definite generalised metric $\mathcal{G} \in \operatorname{End}(E)$ and the associated bundle decomposition $E = C_+ \oplus C_-$. Let now D be a torsion-free compatible generalised connection. Assume that the trace of D coincides with the divergence w.r.t. some volume form Φ on M, i.e. for every $u \in \Gamma(E)$ we have

$$D_A u^A = \Phi^{-1} \mathcal{L}_{\rho(u)} \Phi. \tag{5.28}$$

Note that the pair consisting of a G-structure and a volume form Φ is equivalent to a G-structure in the sense of $O(p,q) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ -geometry of [51]. The torsion-free connection D automatically extends to a corresponding connection in the $O(p,q) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ -geometry by taking Φ to be covariantly constant. The condition (5.28) is then equivalent to the statement that this new connection is also torsion-free (in the $O(p,q) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ -sense). Since it is the latter geometric description in which supersymmetry takes the natural form, in the physically relevant examples studied below the condition (5.28) will be satisfied.

For any \mathcal{G} and a Levi-Civita connection D one can define the (generalised) Ricci tensor [99] by the following contraction of the Riemann tensor:¹⁰

$$R_{a\bar{b}} := R_{\bar{b}a} := 2R^{A}_{aA\bar{b}}, \qquad R_{ab} := R_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} := 0.$$
 (5.29)

It can be shown that this tensor in fact depends only on \mathcal{G} and $\operatorname{Tr} D$ [98]; hence in our case it is a function of \mathcal{G} and Φ . In fact, the condition (5.28) ensures that one can equally write

$$R_{a\bar{b}} = 4R^c_{\ ac\bar{b}} = 4R^{\bar{c}}_{\ a\bar{c}\bar{b}}. (5.30)$$

¹⁰The factor of 2 is purely conventional.

Assuming (5.28), we can now define a positive-definite inner product on each \mathcal{F}^p by

$$(\omega, \tau)_{\mathcal{F}} := \frac{1}{p!} \int_{M} \Phi \mathcal{G}^{AB} \dots \mathcal{G}^{CD} \omega_{A\dots C} \tau_{B\dots D}, \tag{5.31}$$

and we have

$$(\hat{D}^{\dagger}\omega)_{A...B} = -\mathcal{G}^{CD}D_C\omega_{DA...B}.$$

Now extend \mathcal{G} to a derivation $\hat{\mathcal{G}}$ of F (with trivial action on F^0). Defining the bicomplex

$$\mathcal{F}^{p,q} := \Gamma(F^{p,q}), \qquad F^{p,q} := \Lambda^p C_+ \otimes \Lambda^q C_- \tag{5.32}$$

we have $\hat{\mathcal{G}}\omega = (p-q)\omega$ for any $\omega \in \mathcal{F}^{p,q}$. Since D is Levi-Civita, we have the decomposition

$$\hat{D} = \hat{D}_{+} + \hat{D}_{-}, \qquad \hat{D}_{+} \mathcal{F}^{p,q} \subset \mathcal{F}^{p+1,q}, \quad \hat{D}_{-} \mathcal{F}^{p,q} \subset \mathcal{F}^{p,q+1}.$$
 (5.33)

Since \mathcal{G} induces a positive-definite inner product on the whole F, we can again decompose F into

$$F = A \oplus B, \qquad B := \mathfrak{g} \wedge F, \qquad A := B^{\perp}.$$
 (5.34)

Both A and B inherit the bigrading from F. Explicitly, we have

$$A = F^0 \oplus F^1 \oplus \{ \omega \in F^{\geq 2} \mid x^{AB} \omega_{AB...C} = 0, \ \forall x \in \mathfrak{g} \}. \tag{5.35}$$

We will use $p: F \to A$ and $i: A \to F$ for the orthogonal projection and inclusion, respectively. Define also $F_{\pm} := \Lambda^{\bullet} C_{\pm}$ and $A_{\pm} := (\mathfrak{g}_{\pm} \wedge F_{\pm})^{\perp} \subset F_{\pm}$, with $p_{\pm} \colon F_{\pm} \to A_{\pm}$ denoting the orthogonal projection. Crucially,

$$A = A_{+} \otimes A_{-}, \tag{5.36}$$

and so in particular $p = p_+ \otimes p_-$. To see this, we directly calculate

$$A = (\mathfrak{g} \wedge F)^{\perp} = (\mathfrak{g}_{+} \wedge F_{+} \wedge F_{-} + \mathfrak{g}_{-} \wedge F_{+} \wedge F_{-})^{\perp}$$

$$= (\mathfrak{g}_{+} \wedge F_{+} \wedge F_{-})^{\perp} \cap (F_{+} \wedge \mathfrak{g}_{-} \wedge F_{-})^{\perp}$$

$$\cong ((\mathfrak{g}_{+} \wedge F_{+}) \otimes F_{-})^{\perp} \cap (F_{+} \otimes (\mathfrak{g}_{-} \wedge F_{-}))^{\perp}$$

$$= (A_{+} \otimes F_{-}) \cap (F_{+} \otimes A_{-}) = A_{+} \otimes A_{-}.$$

Note that \hat{D} preserves \mathcal{B} , since the adjoint action of \mathfrak{g} preserves $\mathfrak{g} \subset F^2$. Consequently, \hat{D}^{\dagger} preserves \mathcal{A} . Using the orthogonal decomposition (5.34), we can write the differential \check{D} on \mathcal{A} now via

$$\dot{D} := p \circ \hat{D} \circ i \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}.$$
(5.37)

We now define the Laplacian

$$\hat{\Delta} := \hat{D}\hat{D}^{\dagger} + \hat{D}^{\dagger}\hat{D} \colon \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}. \tag{5.38}$$

A quick calculation reveals that for $\omega \in \mathcal{F}^p$ we have

$$\hat{\Delta}\omega_{AB...C} = -\mathcal{G}^{DE}D_DD_E\omega_{AB...C} + p\,\mathcal{G}^{DE}[D_D, D_{[A]}\omega_{|E|B...C}]. \tag{5.39}$$

Let us now show that if \mathcal{G} is Ricci flat then the operator

$$p \circ \hat{\Delta} \circ i \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$$
 (5.40)

preserves the bigrading. This is equivalent to showing that in the Ricci flat case

$$[\hat{\mathcal{G}}, \hat{\Delta}] \, \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{B}. \tag{5.41}$$

We start by calculating

$$\begin{split} [\hat{\mathcal{G}}, \hat{\Delta}] \omega &= \frac{p}{p!} (\mathcal{G}^{DE}[D_D, D_F] \mathcal{G}^F{}_A \omega_{EB\dots C} - \mathcal{G}^{DE}[D_D, D_A] \omega_{FB\dots C} \mathcal{G}^F{}_E) e^A \wedge e^B \wedge \dots \wedge e^C \\ &= \frac{p}{p!} (\mathcal{G}^D{}_E[D^E, D_F] \mathcal{G}^F{}_A \omega_{DB\dots C} - [D^D, D_A] \omega_{DB\dots C}) e^A \wedge e^B \wedge \dots \wedge e^C \\ &= -\frac{2p}{p!} \left[([D^c, D_{\bar{a}}] \omega_{cB\dots C}) e^{\bar{a}} \wedge e^B \wedge \dots \wedge e^C + ([D^{\bar{c}}, D_a] \omega_{\bar{c}B\dots C}) e^a \wedge e^B \wedge \dots \wedge e^C \right] \\ &= \frac{4p(p-1)}{p!} (R^c{}_{\bar{a}}{}^D{}_B \omega_{cD\dots C} e^{\bar{a}} \wedge e^B \wedge \dots \wedge e^C + R^{\bar{c}}{}_{a}{}^D{}_B \omega_{\bar{c}D\dots C} e^a \wedge e^B \wedge \dots \wedge e^C), \end{split}$$

where in the last line we have used $R^c_{\bar{a}}{}^D_c=0=R^{\bar{c}}_{a}{}^D_{\bar{c}}$ (note that $R_{a\bar{b}c\bar{d}}$ automatically vanishes). Continuing, and using $R_{A[BC]D}=-\frac{1}{2}R_{ADBC}$ by (5.18), we have

$$\begin{split} R^c{}_{\bar{a}}{}^D{}_B\omega_{cD\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^B + R^{\bar{c}}{}_a{}^D{}_B\omega_{\bar{c}D\dots C}e^a\wedge e^B \\ &= R^c{}_{\bar{a}}{}^d{}_b\omega_{cd\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^b + R^c{}_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{d}}_{\bar{b}}\omega_{c\bar{d}\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^{\bar{b}} \\ &+ R^{\bar{c}}{}_a{}^d{}_b\omega_{\bar{c}d\dots C}e^a\wedge e^b + R^{\bar{c}}{}_a{}^{\bar{d}}_{\bar{b}}\omega_{\bar{c}\bar{d}\dots C}e^a\wedge e^{\bar{b}} \\ &= -R_{\bar{a}}{}^{[cd]}{}_b\omega_{cd\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^b - R^c{}_{[\bar{a}\bar{b}]}{}^{\bar{d}}\omega_{c\bar{d}\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^{\bar{b}} \\ &- R^{\bar{c}}{}_{[ab]}{}^d\omega_{\bar{c}d\dots C}e^a\wedge e^b - R_a{}^{[\bar{c}\bar{d}]}_{\bar{b}}\omega_{\bar{c}\bar{d}\dots C}e^a\wedge e^{\bar{b}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2}(R_{\bar{a}b}{}^{cd}\omega_{cd\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^b + R^{c\bar{d}}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\omega_{c\bar{d}\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^{\bar{b}} \\ &+ R^{\bar{c}d}{}_{ab}\omega_{\bar{c}d\dots C}e^a\wedge e^b + R_{a\bar{b}}{}^{\bar{c}\bar{d}}\omega_{\bar{c}\bar{d}\dots C}e^a\wedge e^{\bar{b}}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}(R_{\bar{a}b}{}^{AB}\omega_{AB\dots C}e^{\bar{a}}\wedge e^b + R^{c\bar{d}}_{AB}\omega_{c\bar{d}\dots C}e^a\wedge e^B) = \frac{1}{2}R^{c\bar{d}}_{AB}\omega_{c\bar{d}\dots C}e^A\wedge e^B \equiv 0, \end{split}$$

where we have used the fact that $R_{a\bar{a}AB}e^A \wedge e^B \sim (R(e_a, e_{\bar{a}})_{AB})e^A \wedge e^B \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g})$ due to (5.24). This proves (5.40) and (5.41).

Let us also define another Laplacian

$$\dot{\Delta} := \check{D}\check{D}^{\dagger} + \check{D}^{\dagger}\check{D} \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}. \tag{5.42}$$

Using the previous calculation, it is not difficult to show that $\check{\Delta}$ also preserves the bigrading of \mathcal{A} :

We start by noting that

$$p \circ \hat{\Delta} \circ i - \check{\Delta} = p \circ \hat{D} \circ (1 - i \circ p) \circ \hat{D}^{\dagger} \circ i + p \circ \hat{D}^{\dagger} \circ (1 - i \circ p) \circ \hat{D} \circ i = p \circ \hat{D}^{\dagger} \circ (1 - i \circ p) \circ \hat{D} \circ i, \quad (5.43)$$

since \hat{D}^{\dagger} preserves \mathcal{A} . Thus it suffices to show that $[\hat{\mathcal{G}}, p\hat{D}^{\dagger}(1-ip)\hat{D}i] = 0$. Since

$$\hat{D} = e^A \wedge D_{e_A}, \quad \hat{D}^{\dagger} = -\mathcal{G}^{AB} i_{e_A} D_{e_B}, \quad [\hat{\mathcal{G}}, \hat{D}] = \mathcal{G}^{AB} e_A \wedge D_{e_B}, \quad [\hat{\mathcal{G}}, \hat{D}^{\dagger}] = i_{e^A} D_{e_A}, \quad (5.44)$$

we can write for any $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$ (dropping i's)

$$\begin{split} [\hat{\mathcal{G}}, p\hat{D}^{\dagger}(1-p)\hat{D}]\omega &= p[\hat{\mathcal{G}}, \hat{D}^{\dagger}](1-p)\hat{D}\omega + p\hat{D}^{\dagger}(1-p)[\hat{\mathcal{G}}, \hat{D}]\omega \\ &= pi_{e^A}(1-p)D_{e_A}(e^B \wedge D_{e_B}\omega) \\ &- p\mathcal{G}^{AB}i_{e_A}(1-p)\mathcal{G}^{CD}D_{e_B}(e_C \wedge D_{e_D}\omega) \\ &= 2pi_{e^a}(1-p)D_{e_a}(e^{\bar{a}} \wedge D_{e_{\bar{a}}}\omega) + 2pi_{e^{\bar{a}}}(1-p)D_{e_{\bar{a}}}(e^a \wedge D_{e_a}\omega). \end{split}$$

This vanishes since for any $u_+ \in C_+$, $v_- \in C_-$, $\tau = \tau_+ \wedge \tau_- \in A = A_+ \wedge A_-$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} pi_{u_{+}}(1-p)(v_{-} \wedge \tau) &\sim pi_{u_{+}}(1-p_{+}p_{-})(\tau_{+} \wedge (v_{-} \wedge \tau_{-})) \\ &= pi_{u_{+}}(\tau_{+} \wedge (1-p_{-})(v_{-} \wedge \tau_{-})) \\ &= (p_{+}i_{u_{+}}\tau_{+}) \wedge p_{-}(1-p_{-})(v_{-} \wedge \tau_{-}) = 0, \end{aligned}$$

and similarly when we exchange + and -. Thus $\check{\Delta}$ also preserves the bigrading. As D preserves the generalised metric, we can write $\check{D} = d_+ + d_-$ with

$$d_{+} : \mathcal{A}^{p,q} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{p+1,q} \qquad d_{-} : \mathcal{A}^{p,q} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{p,q+1}$$
 (5.45)

Similarly $\check{D}^{\dagger} = \mathrm{d}_{+}^{\dagger} + \mathrm{d}_{-}^{\dagger}$ with

$$d_{+}^{\dagger} \colon \mathcal{A}^{p,q} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{p-1,q} \qquad \quad d_{-}^{\dagger} \colon \mathcal{A}^{p,q} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{p,q-1}$$
 (5.46)

and we have

$$\check{\Delta} = \{d_+, d_+^{\dagger}\} + \{d_-, d_-^{\dagger}\} + \{d_+, d_-^{\dagger}\} + \{d_-, d_+^{\dagger}\}$$
(5.47)

The statement that $\check{\Delta}$ preserves the bigrading of \mathcal{A} corresponds precisely to the Kähler identities

$$\{d_+, d_-^{\dagger}\} = \{d_-, d_+^{\dagger}\} = 0$$
 (5.48)

5.4 Examples

5.4.1 $G \times G$ structures in type II

For U(3) × U(3), $G_2 \times G_2$ and Spin(7) × Spin(7) these double complexes appeared in [67] in the context of the type II topological string. We shall review the structure of the complexes here before reviewing the application to topological strings in section 6.

These generalised G-structures were originally used to describe supersymmetric backgrounds of type II [53, 71]. Indeed, a background preserving $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetry in an NSNS background requires two internal O(d) spinors ϵ^{\pm} which are parallel with respect to the Bismut connections $\nabla^{\pm} = \nabla \pm \frac{1}{2}H$, respectively. These two spinors define two different SU(3), G_2 , or Spin(7) structures in 6, 7, and 8 dimensions respectively. Lifting this to

generalised geometry, the two spinors transform with respect to the left and right groups in the generalised metric structure

$$O(d,d) \to O(d)_{+} \times O(d)_{-}. \tag{5.49}$$

They define, respectively, $SU(3) \times SU(3)$, $G_2 \times G_2$, or $Spin(7) \times Spin(7)$ structures, and the Killing spinor equations guarantee that one can choose some generalised Levi-Civita connection D such that $D\epsilon^{\pm} = 0$. That is, supersymmetry guarantees that the reduced G-structure is integrable.

For these cases, the BPS complex is a doubled version of Carrión's gauge theory BPS complex from section 2. As discussed in section 2, for on a torsion-free SU(3) structure it is natural to take the complex (2.13) which is half of that for U(3) with the scalar part complexified. Correspondingly, for SU(3) × SU(3) structures in generalised geometry we take the complex for U(3) × U(3), also with complexified scalar. For the G_2 and Spin(7) cases, it will be convenient to enhance the notation and explicitly write the representations that appear. Namely, we write

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{p,q} = \Gamma(\Lambda_{\mathbf{r}}^{p}C_{+} \otimes \Lambda_{\mathbf{s}}^{q}C_{-}) \tag{5.50}$$

where \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s} are the representations appearing in the gauge theory BPS complexes.

We can then write the G_2 complex as

and the Spin(7) complex as

In the case of SU(3) structures, there is a subtlety. The gauge theory BPS complex (2.13) in this case is isomorphic to the Dolbeault complex, and we may choose whether this is $(\Omega^{p,0}, \partial)$ or $(\Omega^{0,p}, \bar{\partial})$. In section 2, we made an arbitrary choice to associate it with the antiholomorphic complex. When one combines two copies of the complex, however, there are two inequivalent choices which correspond to whether we take two antiholomorphic copies of the Dolbeault complex, or one holomorphic and one antiholomorphic. We therefore have two non-isomorphic BPS complexes for SU(3) × SU(3) structures given by

$$\mathcal{A}_A^{p,q} = \Gamma(\Lambda^{p,0}C_+ \otimes \Lambda^{0,q}C_-) \tag{5.53}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{R}^{p,q} = \Gamma(\Lambda^{0,p}C_{+} \otimes \Lambda^{0,q}C_{-}) \tag{5.54}$$

In [67], they named these two choices the A- and B-complexes, and indeed they are relevant for the topological A- and B-models respectively, as we will review later.

In [102], this structure was related to the generalised Kähler geometry associated to the $SU(3) \times SU(3)$ structure. In that case, one has two generalised complex structures \mathcal{J}_i which commute and define a generalised metric $\mathcal{G} = -\mathcal{J}_1\mathcal{J}_2$. Since they commute, they define a decomposition of the complexification of $E = T \oplus T^*$ into simultaneous $(\pm i, \pm i)$ eigenspaces. Moreover, since they commute with the generalised metric, this decomposition respects the generalised metric decomposition into C_{\pm} . In particular, the simultaneous eigenspaces are precisely the spaces $C_{\pm}^{1,0}, C_{\pm}^{0,1}$, and one can show that the +i eigenspaces L_i^+ of \mathcal{J}_i satisfy

$$L_1^+ = C_+^{1,0} \oplus C_-^{1,0}, \qquad L_2^+ = C_+^{1,0} \oplus C_-^{0,1}.$$
 (5.55)

Therefore, the A- and B-complexes have the following total spaces

$$\bigoplus_{p,q} \mathcal{A}_A^{p,q} = \bigoplus_n \Gamma(\Lambda^n \overline{L_2^+}), \qquad \bigoplus_{p,q} \mathcal{A}_B^{p,q} = \bigoplus_n \Gamma(\Lambda^n \overline{L_1^+})$$
 (5.56)

and correspond to a refinement of the Dolbeault complex associated to the generalised complex structure into a double complex [50, 103]. The two inequivalent choices correspond to the two different generalised complex structures in a generalised Kähler structure.

5.4.2 $G \times SO(d+n)$ structures for heterotic

For heterotic structures, we have the groups $G \times SO(d+n) \subset SO(d,d+n)$, which are of the type discussed in section 5.3, but are not spinor type. In these cases the generalised Dolbeault complex takes the form of the tensor product of the gauge theory BPS complex for the group G on the left (which is of spinor type in many interesting cases) with the

trivial one (2.9) on the right:

(5.57)

where $\Omega^{+,\bullet} = \Gamma(\Lambda^{\bullet}C_{+})$ and the diagram continues to the lower left as far as needed. We identify the bundles called Q in refs. [43, 44] with C_{-} (or its complexification in the SU(N) case). The lower row of (5.57) then forms the various differential complexes involving Q written down in those references. Note that $C_{-} \simeq TM \oplus End(V)$ and in the case G = SU(N) we have $(C_{-})_{\mathbb{C}} \simeq TM_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus End(V)_{\mathbb{C}} \simeq T^{(1,0)} \oplus T^{*(1,0)} \oplus End(V)_{\mathbb{C}}$, which is the bundle Q discussed in [43]. The upper row forms part of the gauge structure needed to write BV actions for such theories.

5.5 Spinor type complexes in $O(d,d) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry

We now specialise to the case of O(d,d) generalised geometry relevant to the NS-NS fields of type II theories as in [51], where the generalised tangent space is an exact Courant algebroid. We will see that these geometries admit analogues of the spinor type complexes of section 2.3, where the BPS complex becomes a sum of spinors of O(d,d) decomposed under the structure group. In O(d,d) generalised geometry, one can have spinor type complexes for structure groups which do not preserve a generalised metric. For example, the structure groups $U(N,N) \subset SO(2N,2N)$ relevant to generalised complex structures have this property. However, here we will focus on the case where the structure group has the form $G_+ \times G_-$ as in section 5.3 and the corresponding generalised metric is positive definite and generalised Ricci flat. In these cases, the complexes can be viewed as tensor products of two gauge theory spinor type complexes. Similarly to what was found in section 2.3, the spinor type property leads to relations between the various Laplacians appearing in the construction. In particular, we show that $\Delta_{+} = \Delta_{-}$ for these cases, which when combined with the Kähler identities is sufficient to prove a $\partial \bar{\partial}$ -type lemma. We also construct a different Laplacian operator which is shown to agree with the H-twisted de Rham Laplacian on the polyform representation of the spinors. We start by reviewing some features of spinors in $O(d,d)\times\mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry, and how the additional \mathbb{R}^+ factor in the structure group enables one to represent the spinors as polyforms.

First, let us recall some features of the spinor bundle S(E) in $O(d, d) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry (see [51] for full details) and the associated Clifford algebra $\text{Cliff}(d, d; \mathbb{R})$. The spinor bundle (with zero \mathbb{R}^+ weight) is isomorphic to the bundle $(\det T^*)^{-1/2} \otimes \Lambda^{\bullet} T^*$ whose sections

are weighted polyforms. As such, we will here assume that we have a section $\Phi \in \Gamma(\det T^*)$ which gives us an isomorphism to weighted spinors $S(E)_{1/2}$ which can be represented directly as polyforms under the relevant $GL(d,\mathbb{R})$ subgroup of $O(d,d) \times \mathbb{R}^+$

$$S(E) \stackrel{\Phi}{\simeq} S(E)_{1/2} \simeq \Lambda^{\bullet} T^* M \tag{5.58}$$

In applications to physics, we will take $\Phi = \sqrt{g} e^{-2\phi}$ to be the natural string frame integration measure. We will also assume that our $O(d,d) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ connections are compatible with the density Φ such that we need not distinguish carefully between weighted and un-weighted spinors when acting with our differential operators built from these connections. Recall that we also noted this as our assumption at the start of section 5.3.

We denote the generators of the Clifford algebra $\operatorname{Cliff}(d,d;\mathbb{R})$ by Γ^A . In the cases we examine, the generalised structure group will always be contained in the maximal compact subgroup, so that it will define a generalised metric. We can thus consider the decomposition of the spinors and Clifford algebra under $\operatorname{Spin}(d) \times \operatorname{Spin}(d)$. As such, we decompose the index $A \to (a, \bar{a})$, the vector indices for C_{\pm} and let the matrices γ^a and $\gamma^{\bar{a}}$ be two sets of generators for $\operatorname{Cliff}(d,\mathbb{R})$, again one for each of C_{\pm} . There are then several possible cases for the decomposition of the spinors and the matrices Γ^A , depending on the dimension d, as we review in appendix A. However, these differ only slightly in form. The decomposition of the spinor always has the form

$$\Psi = \sum \zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-} \otimes t \tag{5.59}$$

where $\zeta_{\pm} \in S(C_{\pm})$ and t = 1 for d even or a constant vector in a two dimensional auxiliary space for d odd. There are similar tensor product decompositions of the matrices Γ^A acting on the decomposed spinor, as we describe in more detail in appendix A. For our purposes here, the important point to extract is that in all of these cases we have the decompositions

$$\Gamma^{a}\Gamma^{b} = \eta^{ab}\mathbb{1} + \Gamma^{ab} = (g^{ab}\mathbb{1} + \gamma^{ab}) \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} = (\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}) \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1}$$

$$\Gamma^{\bar{a}}\Gamma^{\bar{b}} = \eta^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\mathbb{1} + \Gamma^{\bar{a}\bar{b}} = \mathbb{1} \otimes (-g^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\mathbb{1} - \gamma^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}) \otimes \mathbb{1} = -\mathbb{1} \otimes (\gamma^{\bar{a}}\gamma^{\bar{b}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}$$

$$(5.60)$$

This means that if we have two spinors $\zeta_{\pm} \in S(C_{\pm})$ and we embed the tensor product $\zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-}$ into S(E) by tensoring it with some constant auxiliary vector t as above, then acting with $\Gamma^{a}\Gamma^{b}$ on it corresponds to acting on $\zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-}$ with $(\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}) \otimes \mathbb{1}$ and similarly acting with $\Gamma^{\bar{a}}\Gamma^{\bar{b}}$ on it corresponds to acting on $\zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-}$ with $-\mathbb{1} \otimes (\gamma^{\bar{a}}\gamma^{\bar{b}})$.

Finally, we recall from [51] that for a torsion-free generalised connection the O(d, d) Dirac operator $D = \Gamma^A D_A$ acts on the polyform presentation of a weighted spinor Ψ via the exterior derivative. In fact, this is true in the "twisted picture" of generalised geometry in which a section of $S(E)_{1/2}$ is in fact a collection of local polyforms on patches of the space related by gauge transformations. One can also work in the "untwisted picture" in which we use the B-field specified by the generalised metric to define a global polyform corresponding to the spinor. In this picture, the Dirac operator becomes $d_H = d + (H \wedge)$. In any presentation, one sees that the Dirac operator squares to zero

$$\cancel{D}^2 = (\Gamma^A D_A)^2 = 0 \ . \tag{5.61}$$

We now use these facts to derive properties of the Laplacians on spinor type complexes as follows. First, we examine (5.61) in terms of $Cliff(d, d, \mathbb{R})$ Γ -matrices with indices split under $O(d) \times O(d)$ acting on a generalised spinor

$$(\Gamma^{A}D_{A})^{2} = (\Gamma^{a}D_{a} + \Gamma^{\bar{a}}D_{\bar{a}})^{2} = (\Gamma^{a}D_{a})^{2} + (\Gamma^{\bar{a}}D_{\bar{a}})^{2} + \Gamma^{a}\Gamma^{\bar{a}}[D_{a}, D_{\bar{a}}]$$
(5.62)

The last term here can be expressed as the $Spin(d) \times Spin(d)$ action of the generalised curvature operator (5.19) on the generalised spinor Ψ which is given by

$$[D_a, D_{\bar{a}}]\Psi = \frac{1}{4}R_{a\bar{a}bc}\Gamma^{bc}\Psi + \frac{1}{4}R_{a\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}\Gamma^{\bar{b}\bar{c}}\Psi$$

$$(5.63)$$

since in terms of $\text{Cliff}(d, d, \mathbb{R})$ Γ -matrices, $\text{Spin}(d) \times \text{Spin}(d)$ is generated by Γ^{ab} and $\Gamma^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$. Thus contracting with the additional Γ -matrices in (5.62) we have

$$\Gamma^{a}\Gamma^{\bar{a}}[D_{a}, D_{\bar{a}}]\Psi = \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{\bar{a}}(R_{\bar{a}abc}\Gamma^{a}\Gamma^{bc})\Psi + \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{a}(R_{a\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}\Gamma^{\bar{a}}\Gamma^{\bar{b}\bar{c}})\Psi$$

$$= \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{\bar{a}}(R_{\bar{a}[abc]}\Gamma^{abc} + 2\eta^{ab}R_{\bar{a}abc}\Gamma^{c})\Psi$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{a}(R_{a[\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}]}\Gamma^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} + 2\eta^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}R_{a\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}\Gamma^{\bar{c}})\Psi$$

$$= 0$$
(5.64)

where in the last step we have used the algebraic Bianchi identity (5.18) and that $\eta^{ab}R_{\bar{a}abc} \sim R_{\bar{a}c} = 0$ and $\eta^{\bar{a}\bar{b}}R_{a\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} \sim R_{a\bar{c}} = 0$ on a generalised Ricci flat manifold. So we have

$$(\Gamma^a D_a)^2 + (\Gamma^{\bar{a}} D_{\bar{a}})^2 = 0 (5.65)$$

Next we show that the terms $(\Gamma^a D_a)^2 \Psi$ and $(\Gamma^{\bar{a}} D_{\bar{a}})^2 \Psi$ become Δ_+ and $-\Delta_-$ when seen as actions on an element of the double complex.

From (5.60), on a spinor $\Psi = \zeta_+ \otimes \zeta_- \otimes t$, we have that

$$(\Gamma^a D_a)^2 \Psi = \left[(\gamma^a D_a \otimes \mathbb{1})^2 (\zeta_+ \otimes \zeta_-) \right] \otimes t \tag{5.66}$$

The operator $(\gamma^a D_a)$ acting on the spinor ζ_+ , viewed as an element of the spinor type complex \mathcal{A}_+ , is the Dirac operator \mathcal{D}_+ , the analogue of (2.19) for d_+ , on \mathcal{A}_+ . When tensored with the C_- spinor ζ_- , the action of the generalised connections on ζ_- will be precisely such that $(\gamma^a D_a \otimes \mathbb{1})$ acts on the tensor product as \mathcal{D}_+ on \mathcal{A} . Thus

$$(\Gamma^a D_a)^2 \Psi = \Delta_+ \Psi \tag{5.67}$$

Similarly,

$$(\Gamma^{\bar{a}}D_{\bar{a}})^2\Psi = -\left[(\mathbb{1}\otimes\gamma^{\bar{a}}D_{\bar{a}})^2(\zeta_+\otimes\zeta_-)\right]\otimes t = -\Delta_-\Psi$$
(5.68)

so that (5.65) becomes

$$\Delta_{+} = \Delta_{-} \tag{5.69}$$

for the double complex A.

The equality (5.69) and the Kähler identities in particular imply the Hodge decomposition on compact spaces for each of \check{D} , d_+ , d_- . This can be stated as

$$\mathcal{A}^{p,q} = d_+ d_- \mathcal{A}^{p-1,q-1} \oplus d_+^{\dagger} d_- \mathcal{A}^{p+1,q-1} \oplus d_+ d_-^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}^{p-1,q+1} \oplus d_+^{\dagger} d_-^{\dagger} \mathcal{A}^{p+1,q+1} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{p,q}$$
(5.70)

From this it follows that we also have the $\partial \bar{\partial}$ -lemma. For completeness, we repeat the proof here as it appears in Kähler geometry.

Lemma 1 ($\partial \bar{\partial}$ -lemma). Let $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{p,q}$ be \check{D} -closed, where $\check{D} = d_+ + d_-$. Then the following are equivalent

- (a) α is \check{D} -exact.
- (b) α is d_+ -exact.
- (c) α is d_-exact.
- (d) α is d_+d_- -exact.
- (e) α is orthogonal to the harmonic forms $\mathcal{H}^{(p,q)}$.

Proof. Clearly (d) implies (a), (b) and (c). The usual Hodge decomposition also gives that any of (a), (b) and (c) imply (e). To show that (e) implies (d), note that as α is \check{D} -closed of pure type, α is also d₊-closed and d₋-closed. Assuming (e), and using the d₊-Hodge decomposition, it follows that α is d₊-exact,

$$\alpha = d_{+}\eta \,, \tag{5.71}$$

for $\eta \in \mathcal{A}^{p-1,q}$. But η can be decomposed under the d_-Hodge decomposition as

$$\eta = \mathbf{d}_{-}\gamma + \mathbf{d}_{-}^{\dagger}\gamma' + \theta \ . \tag{5.72}$$

Using the Kähler identities, we see that only the d_-exact part of η contributes to α :

$$0 = d_{-}\alpha = d_{-}d_{+}\eta = -d_{-}d_{-}^{\dagger}d_{+}\gamma' \quad \Rightarrow \quad d_{-}^{\dagger}d_{+}\gamma' = 0 \ . \tag{5.73}$$

We therefore have

$$\alpha = \mathbf{d}_{+}\mathbf{d}_{-}\gamma \,, \tag{5.74}$$

for
$$\gamma \in \mathcal{A}^{p-1,q-1}$$
.

Next, consider the Pin-cover s of the generalised metric, viewed as an endomorphism. This has

$$\mathcal{G}^{A}{}_{B}(s\Gamma^{B}s^{-1}) = \Gamma^{A} \quad \Rightarrow \quad s\Gamma^{A}s^{-1} = \mathcal{G}^{A}{}_{B}\Gamma^{B} \tag{5.75}$$

and thus

$$s\Gamma^A D_A s^{-1} \Psi = G^{AB} \Gamma_A D_B \Psi = (\Gamma^a D_a - \Gamma^{\bar{a}} D_{\bar{a}}) \Psi := \mathcal{D}^{(\mathcal{G})} \Psi$$
 (5.76)

Viewing the O(d,d) spinor as a polyform, it is known [51] that

$$s = \begin{cases} \Gamma^{(+)} = \frac{1}{d!} \epsilon^{a_1 \dots a_d} \Gamma_{a_1 \dots a_d} & d \text{ odd} \\ \Gamma^{(-)} = \frac{1}{d!} \epsilon^{\bar{a}_1 \dots \bar{a}_d} \Gamma_{\bar{a}_1 \dots \bar{a}_d} & d \text{ even} \end{cases}$$
 (5.77)

and that on a form ψ_k of degree k

$$\Gamma^{(+)}\psi_k = (-1)^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} * \psi_k \qquad \Gamma^{(-)}\psi_k = (-1)^d (-1)^{\lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor} * \psi_k$$
 (5.78)

Putting all these together, one finds that

$$(\Delta_{+} + \Delta_{-})\Psi = (\Gamma^{a}D_{a})^{2}\Psi - (\Gamma^{\bar{a}}D_{\bar{a}})^{2}\Psi = \frac{1}{2}\{\not D, \not D^{(G)}\}\Psi = \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{d}\Delta_{H}\Psi$$
 (5.79)

is essentially the *H*-twisted de Rham Laplacian $\Delta_H = \{d_H, d_H^{\dagger}\}$ (in the untwisted picture where $\not D = d_H$).

6 Applications

In this section, we will look at a few applications of the BPS complex to supergravity and string theory. To match conventions in the supergravity literature, we will follow [51] and denote frames for the generalised tangent bundle $\{\hat{E}_A\}$ and their dual frames $\{E^A\}$ for the dual bundle (so that the natural inner product is $\langle E^A, \hat{E}_B \rangle = \delta^A{}_B$). We also adopt the notational convention of [51] for raising/lowering C_- indices (on decomposed O(d, d+n) tensors) in sections 6.3 and 6.4, which results in relative minus signs versus that used in section 5.

6.1 Moduli spaces of flux backgrounds

It is straightforward to see that the BPS complex \mathcal{A} we have constructed calculates the infinitesimal moduli of the underlying torsion-free generalised G-structure as its second cohomology group, by employing the same argument as in section 4. Indeed we can interpret the first few terms as (similar statements have appeared in [70, 104])

$$0 \to \Gamma(\Lambda^0 E) \to \Gamma(\Lambda^1 E) \to \Gamma(\mathfrak{o}(d, d+n)/\mathfrak{g}) \to \Gamma(T^{(\text{int})}) \to \dots$$
 (6.1)

Here, there is a reducible gauge symmetry generated by sections of $\Lambda^0 E$ (i.e. scalars), which in cases relevant to supergravity corresponds to the gauge-of-gauge transformations for the B-field, so that the cohomology relevant to the moduli of the structure becomes the second cohomology here. Again the last term $T^{(\text{int})}$ written here corresponds to the bundle of which the intrinsic torsion of the generalised G-structure is a section. This can be understood as follows.

Consider a tensor $\Sigma \in E^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ which can be thought of as the difference of two compatible generalised connections $D \colon E \to E^* \otimes E$. Recall that the torsion of a generalised connection can be defined using the Dorfman derivative to give a tensor $T(D) \in \Gamma(\Lambda^3 E)$. We define a map $\tau \colon E^* \otimes \Lambda^2 E^* \to \Lambda^3 E$ to give the difference of the torsions of the two connections. With respect to such the frame $\{\hat{E}_A\}$, the map τ takes the form

$$\tau(\Sigma)_{ABC} = 3\Sigma_{[ABC]} \tag{6.2}$$

This map restricts to a map τ on $E^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$. We then have an exact sequence of bundles

$$0 \to \ker(\tau|) \stackrel{\iota}{\to} E^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \stackrel{\tau|}{\to} \Lambda^3 E \stackrel{\pi}{\to} T^{(\text{int})} \to 0 \tag{6.3}$$

where we have defined the bundle of which the intrinsic torsion of a G-structure is a section by

$$T^{(\text{int})} = \operatorname{coker}(\tau|) = (\Lambda^3 E) / \operatorname{Im}(\tau|) \tag{6.4}$$

Given a G-compatible connection, the projection of the torsion of this connection onto $T^{(\text{int})}$ does not change if one shifts to a different G-compatible connection by adding to it a tensor $\Sigma \in E^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$. Therefore, it is independent of the choice of G-compatible connection and represents a property of the G-structure itself. It is called the intrinsic torsion of the structure, and can be thought of as a part of the torsion which is common to all connections compatible with the G-structure.

As in section 4, we can interpret the maps \check{D} by considering a G-frame \hat{E}_A for E and a G-compatible connection D with

$$D_V \hat{E}_A = \Omega_V^B{}_A \hat{E}_B \tag{6.5}$$

where again we use the notation $\Omega_V{}^B{}_A = V^C \Omega_C{}^B{}_A$ and Ω_V is a section of $\mathfrak{g} \subset E^* \otimes E$. As in section 4, for simplicity we assume reducibility so that we can decompose¹¹

$$\mathfrak{so}(d,d+n) = \mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{k} \tag{6.6}$$

and write a frame for a nearby G-structure as

$$\hat{E}_A' = \hat{E}_A + X^B{}_A \hat{E}_B \tag{6.7}$$

where the generalised tensor X lies in \mathfrak{k} .

We can then compute the intrinsic torsion induced by the deformation X of the structure, working to first order in X. We consider a deformed compatible connection $D' = D + \Sigma$, for $\Sigma \in \Gamma(E^* \otimes \mathfrak{g})$, so that

$$\Omega_V^{\prime B}{}_{A}\hat{E}_B^{\prime} = D_V^{\prime}\hat{E}_A^{\prime} = D_V\hat{E}_A^{\prime} + \Sigma_V{}^{B}{}_{A}\hat{E}_B^{\prime}$$
(6.8)

and we have

$$D_{V}\hat{E}'_{A} = D_{V}(\hat{E}_{A} + X^{B}{}_{A}\hat{E}_{B})$$

$$= \Omega_{V}{}^{B}{}_{A}\hat{E}_{B} + (\partial_{V}X^{B}{}_{A})\hat{E}_{A} + X^{B}{}_{A}\Omega_{V}{}^{C}{}_{B}\hat{E}_{C}$$

$$= \Omega_{V}{}^{B}{}_{A}(\hat{E}'_{B} - X^{C}{}_{B}\hat{E}'_{C}) + (\partial_{V}X^{B}{}_{A} + \Omega_{V}{}^{B}{}_{C}X^{C}{}_{A})\hat{E}'_{B} + O(X^{2})$$

$$= (\Omega_{V}{}^{B}{}_{A} + D_{V}X^{B}{}_{A})\hat{E}'_{B} + O(X^{2})$$
(6.9)

The shift in the components of the connection (each with respect to their corresponding frames) is thus given by

$$\Omega_V^{\prime A}{}_B - \Omega_V{}^A{}_B = \Sigma_V{}^A{}_B + D_V X^A{}_B \tag{6.10}$$

¹¹Again, this is not necessary: one can instead work via projections onto the quotient $\mathfrak{so}(d,d+n)/\mathfrak{g}$.

and the quantities on both sides must lie in \mathfrak{g} . Let us again split the tensor Σ via

$$\Sigma = \Sigma^{(\mathfrak{g})} + \Sigma^{(\mathfrak{k})} \tag{6.11}$$

and the previous equation tells us that

$$\Sigma_V^{(\mathfrak{k})} = -D_V X \tag{6.12}$$

Using the map τ as above and defining $\tau^{(int)} = \pi \circ \tau$, we have

$$\tau^{(\text{int})}(\Sigma) = \tau^{(\text{int})}(\Sigma^{(\mathfrak{g})} + \Sigma^{(\mathfrak{k})}) = \tau^{(\text{int})}(\Sigma^{(\mathfrak{k})}) = \pi(\tau(\Sigma^{(\mathfrak{k})}))$$

$$= \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{A}^{2}}\left(-\frac{1}{3!}(3D_{[A}X_{BC]})E^{A} \wedge E^{B} \wedge E^{C}\right)$$

$$= -\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{A}^{2}}(\hat{D}X)$$

$$= -\check{D}X$$

$$(6.13)$$

so that for $X \in \mathcal{A}^1$ we have that $\check{D}X$ is proportional to the intrinsic torsion of the new G-structure to first order in X.

Next we examine which tensors X are induced by the action of an infinitesimal generalised diffeomorphism generated by a generalised vector $V \in \Gamma(E)$. The action on generalised tensors is via the Dorfman derivative so we have

$$\delta \hat{E}_A = L_V \hat{E}_A = L_V^D \hat{E}_A = (D_V - D \times_{\mathfrak{so}(d,d)} V) \cdot \hat{E}_A = (\Omega_V^B{}_A - 2\eta^{BC} D_{[A} V_{C]}) \hat{E}_B \quad (6.14)$$

The parts of the last expression in parentheses which lies in \mathfrak{g} merely rotate \hat{E}_A to a new G-frame for the original G-structure and thus gives no deformation of the structure itself. We are thus interested only in the part which lies in \mathfrak{k} . As Ω_V lies in \mathfrak{g} , this is given by

$$X = -\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{k}}\left(\frac{1}{2}(2D_{[A}V_{B]})E^{A} \wedge E^{B}\right) = -\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{A}^{1}}(\hat{D}V) = -\check{D}V$$

$$(6.15)$$

We thus see that the infinitesimal moduli space of torsion free generalised G-structures is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{G\text{-str}} = \frac{\{X : \check{D}X = 0\}}{\{X = \check{D}V\}} = H^1(\mathcal{A})$$
 (6.16)

exactly as for (2.46) and (4.21).

Note that for the heterotic cases

$$G \times O(d+n) \subset O(d) \times O(d+n) \subset O(d,d+n), \tag{6.17}$$

the BPS complex takes the form (5.57), in which the lower row is the tensor product of a gauge theory BPS complex for C_+ tensored with C_- and the differential d_+ is defined using a generalised connection. Denote this complex by $\mathcal{A}_+(C_-)$. Again, the bundle C_- (or its complexification) is the one denoted Q in [43, 44], and $\mathcal{A}_+(C_-)$ is the complex used to compute the moduli in those references. The upper row is the gauge theory BPS complex.

denoted here \mathcal{A}_+ , again with the differential d_+ defined using a generalised connection. Denoting by \mathcal{A}_T the total complex, one has a short exact sequence of complexes:

$$0 \to \mathcal{A}_{+}(C_{-})[1] \to \mathcal{A}_{T} \to \mathcal{A}_{+} \to 0 \tag{6.18}$$

where the maps are inclusion and projection and [1] denotes a degree shift by one. If one has $H^{k-1}(\mathcal{A}_+) = H^k(\mathcal{A}_+) = 0$ for some k, then the associated long exact sequence in cohomology gives us

$$H^k(\mathcal{A}_T) \simeq H^k(\mathcal{A}_+(C_-)) \tag{6.19}$$

For k = 2, this would give us the infinitesimal moduli space of the $G \times O(d+n) \subset O(d,d+n)$ structure in terms of the cohomology of $\mathcal{A}_+(C_-)$, which was the moduli space appearing in [43, 44].

Note that naively this is not quite the full moduli space of the supersymmetric background, which would be the moduli space of a $G \times O(d+n) \subset O(d,d+n) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ structure, with the additional \mathbb{R}^+ factor corresponding to the dilaton field. Thus in general, $H^2(\mathcal{A}_T)$ will give the moduli space of the supergravity background at fixed dilaton.

However, in the case of SU(3) structures, as considered in [43], it turns out very non-trivially that it matches the physical moduli space. This follows from similar reasoning to that used in the discussion of gauge theory instantons on torsion-free SU(N) structures in section 2. In particular, we take the analogue of the complex (2.13) with the complexified scalar, so that overall we have

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)} \xrightarrow{d_{-}}$$

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-})$$
(6.20)

Taking the tensor product with the (complex) forms in $\Omega_+^{0,\bullet}$ effectively complexifies the C_- bundle. Consequently, taking the cohomology in d_+ effectively is a quotient by the complexification of the infinitesimal gauge transformations of the supergravity theory. Further, as we actually construct the BPS complex using the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{u}(3)\otimes\mathfrak{so}(6+n)$ we are really computing the moduli of the structure as a $U(3)\times SO(6+n)\subset SO(6,6+n)$ structure, which corresponds to the J-structure of [60]. To get the physical moduli space, one needs to include the ψ -structure, which includes an additional $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}^*)$ of degrees of freedom compared with the J-structure, as we will discuss below in section 6.3. The physical moduli space (plus an additional \mathbb{C}^* factor corresponding to constant rescaling of ψ) is the Kähler quotient of the moduli space of ψ -structures with integrable J-structure by the gauge transformations. But one expects that this can be computed as a regular quotient by the complexified gauge

transformations, at least if one restricts to so-called polystable points. (For a more detailed discussion of this construction, see [60].) As a \mathbb{C}^* family of integrable ψ -structures give the same J-structure, the moduli space of J-structures should match the physical moduli space. Thus, the second cohomology of (6.20) in fact should match the physical moduli space.

6.2 Target spaces for topological strings

As mentioned in section 5.4.1, the first appearance of the type II BPS complex is in the study of topological strings of [67]. It was noted that the double complex precisely captures the target space realisation of the worldsheet BRST complex of the topologically twisted sigma model. Moreover, the 1-loop partition function of the theory calculates a quantity associated to the complex called the analytic torsion.

To see this, note that in an $\mathcal{N}=(1,1)$ 2-dimensional sigma model, the left- and right-moving fermion fields ψ_{\pm} can be seen as sections of $S(\Sigma)\otimes\phi^*(C_{\pm})$ respectively, where $S(\Sigma)$ is the worldsheet spinor bundle and $\phi\colon \Sigma\to M$ is the embedding function. When the target space has a refined G-structure, the worldsheet theory has enhanced symmetry. The most famous example is when the target space is Kähler and the worldsheet theory has enhanced $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry. For the G_2 and Spin(7) strings, the enhanced symmetries are particular \mathcal{W} -algebras. Schematically, these algebras are generated by the worldsheet operators T, G, which generate the left/right-moving $\mathcal{N}=1$ Virasoro algebra, as well as operators X, M which take the approximate form¹²

$$X = \Phi_{a_1...a_n} \psi^{a_1} \dots \psi^{a_n} + \dots, \qquad M = \Phi_{a_1...a_n} \psi^{a_1} \dots \partial \phi^{a_n} + \dots$$
 (6.21)

Here $\Phi_{a_1...a_n}$ are the components of differential forms in singlet representations with respect to the G-structure.¹³

In each of the cases above, one can define a twist of the theory by an operator related to the spectral flow operator of the SCFT. In particular, one looks for a bosonic operator ρ through which one can define a twisted energy momentum tensor

$$T_{\rm twist} \sim T + \partial^2 \rho$$
 (6.22)

which has vanishing central charge. In the SU(3) case, the operator $e^{i\rho}$ defines spectral flow of the worldsheet SCFT. In the G_2 and Spin(7) cases, one can bosonise the theory and find that

$$X \sim (\partial \rho)^2 + \partial^2 \rho \tag{6.23}$$

In any case, the new twisted energy momentum tensor provides new Lorentz charges to all the fields. One finds that the dimensionless operators can be identified with sections of $A^{p,q}$, where $A^{p,q}$ are the vector bundles in the double complex defined in section 5.4.1, i.e. the vector bundles appearing in the BPS complex. Furthermore, one can find a nilpotent operator Q acting on the Hilbert space which decomposes into left- and right-moving pieces and acts as

$$Q = Q_L + Q_R \tag{6.24}$$

$$Q_L \colon \Gamma(A^{p,q}) \to \Gamma(A^{p+1,q}), \quad Q_R \colon \Gamma(A^{p,q}) \to \Gamma(A^{p,q+1})$$

$$(6.24)$$

¹²More details can be found in [67].

 $^{^{13}}$ For G_2 structures and SU(3) structures, we get one set of tensors for each singlet differential form.

The left- and right-moving pieces are the operators d_{\pm} from the double complexes of section 5.4.1

$$Q_L = d_+, \quad Q_R = d_-.$$
 (6.26)

From this, the authors in [67] were able to identify the 1-loop partition function by using the formula for free energy at 1-loop

$$\mathcal{F}_1 = \delta(H_L - H_R) \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\prod_{F_L, F_R} (\det'(H_L + H_R))^{(-1)^F F_L F_R} \right] . \tag{6.27}$$

Here $F_{L/R}$ is the left/right fermion number and $H_L = \{Q_L, Q_L^{\dagger}\}$ is the left-moving Hamiltonian, and similarly for H_R . By the identification of $Q_{L/R}$ with d_{\pm} , and using the fact that $\Delta_+ = \Delta_-$ for these cases,¹⁴ we identify the term in the [...] as the analytic torsion of the BPS complex.

In the case of topological strings on Kähler manifolds, and topological strings on G_2 manifolds, where the BPS complex admits a pairing, we can also provide a Chern-Simons-like description of the target space theory. In these cases, the pairing is given by

$$\langle f, f' \rangle = \int_{M} \Phi f \wedge f', \qquad f \in \mathcal{A}^{\bullet}.$$
 (6.29)

where $\Phi = \sqrt{g}e^{-2\phi}$ is the generalised density for the dilaton field ϕ and we assume that we work with a generalised Levi-Civita connection which preserves this density.

One can then construct a diagonal complex \mathcal{D} from the double complex via $\mathcal{D}^k = \mathcal{A}^{k,k}$, corresponding to the level-matched worldsheet operators, with second order differential $d_{\mathcal{D}} = d_+ d_-$. The ghost number zero fields in the theory then form a general element $f \in \mathcal{D}^{\bullet}$, with Chern-Simons type action

$$S = \langle f_0, d_{\mathcal{D}} f \rangle = \int_M \Phi f \wedge d_+ d_- f, \qquad f \in \mathcal{D}^{\bullet} .$$
 (6.30)

However, unlike in our examples above, this is only the ghost number zero fields and to write a BV action, one must introduce ghosts and anti-fields, which can also be described in terms of elements of the BPS complex \mathcal{A} , and the BRST operator which can be described in terms of d_+ and d_- . The gauge symmetry for the field strength $F = d_{\mathcal{D}}f = d_+d_-f$ is

$$\delta f^{k,k} = d_{+} \lambda^{k-1,k} + d_{-} \kappa^{k,k-1}$$
 (6.31)

$$d^{2} = (\Gamma^{A} \partial_{A})^{2} = \partial^{A} \partial_{A} + \Gamma^{AB} \partial_{[A} \partial_{B]} = \partial^{A} \partial_{A}$$

$$(6.28)$$

and the "weak constraint" $\partial^A \partial_A = 0$ is well-known to be related to the level matching condition in the literature on double field theory [105]. The other natural Laplacian operator (5.79) has leading term $\Delta\Phi \sim 2G^{AB}D_AD_B + \ldots$, and being harmonic with respect to this operator is analogous to the mass shell condition.

¹⁴The Laplacians Δ_{\pm} correspond to the worldsheet Hamiltonians for the left- and right-moving modes. The condition (5.69) then becomes the level matching condition on the worldsheet. It is then natural that this is related to the vanishing of the square of the Dirac operator on the generalised spinor, as in the coordinate basis one has:

so that the cohomology of the BRST complex at ghost number zero is given by the Aeppli cohomologies of the double complex \mathcal{A} for the degree (k,k) elements. One could thus think of this theory as a Chern-Simons-type theory for the Aeppli cohomology. One can represent the full set of fields and anti-fields diagrammatically using a series of copies of the double complex \mathcal{A} , one for each element f appearing in (6.30), and selecting only a particular subset of the elements in each, similarly to the complexes appearing in [106-108], see also [109]. Further details of this construction will be presented elsewhere. Note, however, that the $\partial\bar{\partial}$ -lemma means that the Aeppli cohomologies are isomorphic to the d_{\pm} -cohomologies for these complexes, which are in turn isomorphic to the spaces of harmonic elements. Thus, despite the apparently different form of the action, the classical states for these theories are still related to on-shell deformations of the classical backgrounds.

The BV quantisations of the actions (6.30) were previously shown [67, 77] to reproduce the analytic torsion appearing in the one-loop partition functions (6.27).

6.3 SU(3) heterotic superpotential

In this section, we will see that in six-dimensions the heterotic $U(3) \times SO(6+n)$ complex (on a supersymmetric background with a torsion-free $SU(3) \times SO(6+n) \subset SO(6,6+n) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ structure) is closely related to the theory of [110, 111] based on the heterotic superpotential [112–114]. In fact, one has to perform a mild extension of this BPS complex to give it a BV symplectic pairing. One can easily see that an enlargement of some kind must be necessary as the superpotential depends on the dilaton, which does not appear in the degrees of freedom of the $U(3) \times SO(6+n) \subset SO(6,6+n)$ structure (one must enlarge the generalised structure group to $SO(6,6+n) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ to see this degree of freedom [51]). Correspondingly, the equation of motion of the superpotential theory is more constraining than simply requiring that the $U(3) \times SO(6+n)$ structure is torsion-free [60]. There is an additional part of the generalised intrinsic torsion of the enclosing $SU(3) \times SO(6+n) \subset SO(6,6+n) \times \mathbb{R}^+$ structure transforming in the $(\bar{\bf 3}, \bf 1)$ representation that is constrained to vanish by the vanishing of the superpotential and its variation. However, these points are cured by using a simple extended version of the $U(3) \times SO(6+n)$ complex described below, and we will see that the natural Chern-Simons-type theory for this complex precisely reproduces the heterotic superpotential at quadratic order.

The superpotential is a functional of a generalised $\mathrm{SU}(3)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)\subset\mathrm{SO}(6,6+n)\times\mathbb{R}^+$ structure. It was shown in [60] how a generalised $\mathrm{U}(3)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)\subset\mathrm{SO}(6,6+n)$ structure (a "J structure") is defined by a generalised tensor $J\in\Gamma(\Lambda^2E)$. As $\mathrm{U}(3)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)\subset\mathrm{SO}(6)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)$, this defines a generalised metric on E, and J annihilates C_- and squares to minus one acting on C_+ . The (complexified) C_+ bundle is thus split into the +i-eigenbundle $C_+^{1,0}$ and the -i-eigenbundle $C_+^{0,1}$. If the line-bundle $\Lambda^3C_+^{0,1}$ is trivial, then a further reduction of the structure group to $\mathrm{SU}(3)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)$ is possible, and this has an associated invariant tensor $\chi\in\Gamma(\Lambda^3C_+^{0,1})\subset\Gamma(\Lambda^3E)$. To define a $\mathrm{SU}(3)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)\subset\mathrm{SO}(6,6+n)\times\mathbb{R}^+$ structure, one requires a generalised tensor $\psi\in\Gamma(\Lambda^3E\otimes\det T^*M)$, which is the product of a tensor of the same type as χ above with a density $\Phi=\sqrt{g}\mathrm{e}^{-2\phi}$ that trivialises the \mathbb{R}^+ factor of the enlarged generalised structure group $\mathrm{SO}(6,6+n)\times\mathbb{R}^+$ which includes the dilaton. Such a tensor defines the $\mathrm{SU}(3)\times\mathrm{SO}(6+n)$ subgroup entirely and thus also defines a generalised metric, a dilaton and an associated J structure.

For a ψ -structure, with associated J-structure, the value of the heterotic superpotential is

$$W \sim \int \operatorname{tr}(J \cdot D \times_{\operatorname{ad}} \psi) \sim \int \psi^{ABC} D_A J_{BC}$$
 (6.32)

In [60], it was stated that D in this equation is a generalised Levi-Civita connection, but in fact the equation holds for any torsion-free generalised connection.

Let us write $\psi^{ABC} = \Phi \chi^{ABC}$ where $\Phi = \sqrt{g} e^{-2\phi}$ is the generalised volume density. We define an SU(3) × SO(6 + n) frame $\{\hat{E}_A\} = \{\hat{E}_a^+, \hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^+, \hat{E}_{\bar{m}}^-\}$ (nb. a, b = 1, 2, 3 are holomorphic indices for C_+ and $\tilde{m}, \tilde{n} = 1, \ldots, 6 + n$ are real indices for C_-) to be one for which we have:

$$J^{a}{}_{b} = \mathrm{i}\delta^{a}{}_{b} \qquad J^{\bar{a}}{}_{\bar{b}} = -\mathrm{i}\delta^{\bar{a}}{}_{\bar{b}} \qquad \chi^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} = \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} \qquad \Phi = 1 \tag{6.33}$$

where the last condition also fixes the \mathbb{R}^+ frame.

If we then vary the connection in (6.32) by an arbitrary tensor $\Sigma_A{}^B{}_C$, we find

$$\delta(\psi^{ABC}D_{A}J_{BC}) = \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}(\Sigma_{\bar{a}} \cdot J)_{\bar{b}\bar{c}}$$

$$= \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}(-2\Sigma_{\bar{a}}{}^{E}{}_{\bar{b}}J_{E\bar{c}})$$

$$= \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}(-2\Sigma_{\bar{a}}{}^{e}{}_{\bar{b}}J_{e\bar{c}})$$

$$= 2i\epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}(\Sigma_{[\bar{a}\bar{c}\bar{b}]})$$

$$(6.34)$$

which vanishes if Σ is torsion-free (so that $\Sigma_{[ABC]} = 0$). This demonstrates the claim above that the connection appearing in the definition of the superpotential (6.32) can be any torsion-free generalised connection.

We can then parameterise an infinitesimal variation of the structure via a variation of the frame and density:

$$\delta \hat{E}_{a}^{+} = i\alpha \hat{E}_{a}^{+} + \bar{\beta}_{a}^{\bar{b}} \hat{E}_{\bar{b}}^{+} + \Lambda_{a}^{\tilde{m}} \hat{E}_{\tilde{m}}^{-}$$

$$\delta \hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^{+} = -i\alpha \hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^{+} + \beta_{\bar{a}}^{\bar{b}} \hat{E}_{b}^{+} + \Lambda_{\bar{a}}^{\tilde{m}} \hat{E}_{\tilde{m}}^{-}$$

$$\delta \hat{E}_{\tilde{m}}^{-} = \Lambda^{a}_{\tilde{m}} \hat{E}_{a}^{+} + \Lambda^{\bar{a}}_{\tilde{m}} \hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^{+}$$

$$\delta \Phi = \Lambda \Phi$$
(6.35)

The parameters in this equation parameterise a (real) element of $\mathfrak{so}(6,6+n) \times \mathbb{R}^+/\mathfrak{su}(3) \times \mathfrak{so}(6+n)$ at each point, so that $\hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^+ = (\hat{E}_a^+)^*$, $\Lambda_{\bar{a}}^{\bar{m}} = (\Lambda_a^{\bar{m}})^*$ and $\bar{\beta}_a^{\bar{b}} = (\beta_{\bar{a}}^{\bar{b}})^*$. Note here we are using the convention of raising/lowering decomposed indices with the ordinary metric $g_{a\bar{b}}$ as in [51]. The "canonical" index positions in which they are matched with the O(d,d+n) indices are

$$J^{A}{}_{B}$$
, ψ^{ABC} , $\Lambda^{A}{}_{B}$, \hat{E}_{A} , E^{A} . (6.36)

To calculate the components of $\delta \psi^{ABC}$ and $\delta J^{A}{}_{B}$ we write

$$\psi' = \Phi' \chi' = \frac{1}{3!} \Phi' \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} \hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^{\prime +} \wedge \hat{E}_{\bar{b}}^{\prime +} \wedge \hat{E}_{\bar{c}}^{\prime +}$$

$$J' = i \delta^{a}{}_{b} \hat{E}_{a}^{\prime +} \otimes E'^{+b} - i \delta^{\bar{a}}{}_{\bar{b}} \hat{E}_{\bar{a}}^{\prime +} \otimes E'^{+\bar{b}}$$

$$(6.37)$$

and then expand out the primed objects to first order in the deformation parameters $\alpha, \beta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}, \Lambda_{\bar{a}}{}^{\tilde{m}}$ and Λ . This results in

$$\begin{split} \delta\psi^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} &= (\Lambda - 3\mathrm{i}\alpha)\epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} \quad \delta\psi^{\bar{a}\bar{b}c} = \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{e}}\beta_{\bar{e}}{}^c \quad \delta\psi^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\tilde{m}} = \epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{e}}\Lambda_{\bar{e}}{}^{\tilde{m}} \\ \delta J^{\tilde{m}}{}_a &= \mathrm{i}\Lambda_a{}^{\tilde{m}} \qquad \delta J^a{}_{\tilde{m}} = -\mathrm{i}\Lambda^a{}_{\tilde{m}} \\ \delta J^{\tilde{m}}{}_{\bar{a}} &= -\mathrm{i}\Lambda_{\bar{a}}{}^{\tilde{m}} \qquad \delta J^{\bar{a}}{}_{\tilde{m}} = \mathrm{i}\Lambda^{\bar{a}}{}_{\tilde{m}} \\ \delta J^b{}_{\bar{a}} &= -2\mathrm{i}\beta_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{b}} \qquad \delta J^{\bar{b}}{}_a = 2\mathrm{i}\bar{\beta}_a{}^{\bar{b}} \end{split} \tag{6.38}$$

Using that one can take D in (6.32) to be any fixed background torsion-free connection (i.e. it does not depend on the structure), it is then very straightforward to calculate the perturbative expansion of the superpotential. One has:

$$\delta W \sim \int \left[\delta \psi^{ABC} D_A J_{BC} + \psi^{ABC} D_A \delta J_{BC} \right]$$
 (6.39)

and

$$\delta^2 W \sim \int \left[\delta^2 \psi^{ABC} D_A J_{BC} + 2\delta \psi^{ABC} D_A \delta J_{BC} + \psi^{ABC} D_A \delta^2 J_{BC} \right]$$
 (6.40)

However, if we are expanding around a supersymmetric background, we can make the convenient choice that D is a torsion-free compatible connection for that background solution. This means that in the background $DJ = D\psi = 0$, so on integration-by-parts $\delta W = 0$ (as it should be around a supersymmetric solution) and

$$\delta^{2}W \sim \int 2\delta\psi^{ABC}D_{A}\delta J_{BC}$$

$$= \int 4i\epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}} \left[-\Lambda_{\bar{a}}{}^{\tilde{m}}D_{\bar{b}}\Lambda_{\bar{c}\tilde{m}} + \Lambda_{\bar{a}}{}^{\tilde{m}}D_{\tilde{m}}\beta_{\bar{b}\bar{c}} + \varphi D_{\bar{a}}\beta_{\bar{b}\bar{c}} + \beta_{\bar{a}}{}^{e}D_{e}\beta_{\bar{b}\bar{c}} \right]$$

$$(6.41)$$

where we have defined the complex scalar $\varphi = \Lambda - 3i\alpha$. This is the quadratic action (for ghost number zero fields) which we seek to recover from our extended BPS complex below. Note that it depends only on the variables $(\Lambda_{\bar{a}}{}^{\tilde{m}}, \beta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}, \varphi)$ and not their complex conjugates, so that it is indeed holomorphic on the parameter space.

We now examine the heterotic complex (5.57) for the structure group $U(3) \times SO(6+n)$ in six-dimensions, which takes the form:

One might try to write a BV action associated to the total complex of (6.42), i.e. a free-field theory whose equations of motion are the statement that the fields in $\Omega_{+}^{(0,2)} \oplus \Omega_{+}^{(0,1)}(C_{-})$

are closed in the total differential, with the gauge symmetry shifting them by exact pieces. Unfortunately, (6.42) does not have a cyclic structure (in the language of the L_{∞} -algebra community) or graded symplectic pairing (in the BV language). The row with C_{-} factors is self-dual, but there are no partners for the fields and anti-fields in the first row. This means that one cannot apply the standard procedure for constructing an action from the complex (see e.g. [115]).

However, there is a simple procedure to construct a complex equipped with a cyclic structure from one that does not. Consider a general complex (C, d_C) . If one simply adds the dual complex shifted by one degree $(C^*[-1], d_C^*)$ to form

$$\cdots \to C_{-2} \oplus C_3^* \to C_{-1} \oplus C_2^* \to C_0 \oplus C_1^* \to C_1 \oplus C_0^* \to C_2 \oplus C_{-1}^* \to C_3 \oplus C_{-2}^* \to \cdots$$
 (6.43)

then this has a natural pairing of the spaces opposite each other with respect to the middle arrow. One could then write a BV action using this pairing. 15

In our case, the $\Omega_{+}^{(0,\bullet)}(C_{-})$ row of (6.42) is self-dual and would have a pairing of the right type were it all we had. It is the other $\Omega_{+}^{(0,\bullet)}$ row which lacks a pairing. We can thus add a copy of the dual of this row and use that $\Omega_{+}^{0,p} \simeq (\Omega_{+}^{0,3-p})^*$ via contraction with the anti-holomorphic top-form $\bar{\Omega}$ for C_{+} . Via this isomorphism we also have that d_{+}^{*} becomes d_{+} again. Overall, we simply add a degree-shifted copy of the top row to get

$$\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)} \\
\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)} \\
\Omega_{+}^{(0,0)}(C_{-}) \\
\Omega_{+}^{(0,$$

The horizontal levels in this diagram then have ghost numbers +2, +1, 0, -1, -2, -3 respectively and one has a symplectic pairing of degree +1. We also see that there are natural additional maps $\Omega_{+}^{(0,k)}(C_{-}) \to \Omega_{+}^{(0,k)}$, given by the duals of our existing maps $\Omega_{+}^{(0,k)} \to \Omega_{+}^{(0,k)}(C_{-})$ (i.e. contractions $D_{\tilde{m}}\omega_{\bar{c}_{1}...\bar{c}_{k}}^{\tilde{m}}$ using the frame indices introduced above) and maps $\Omega_{+}^{(0,k+1)} \to \Omega_{+}^{(0,k)}$ proportional to d_{+}^{\dagger} , so we include these. The inclusion of these last maps means that naively (6.44) will not have the structure of a double complex.

It is not obvious that the total differential d_W on (6.44) squares to zero. Acting on the middle and lower rows, one can deduce that this is so from the fact that the dual differential on total complex A_T from (6.42) squares to zero. However, acting on an element of the top

¹⁵Note that one could do this for any of the complexes which lack a BV symplectic pairing. For example, for the Carrión complexes for structure groups SU(2) in four dimensions or Spin(7) or SU(4) in eight dimensions, this recovers part of the action for the theories of instantons in [1, 15]. One could also do this for the heterotic versions of these complexes.

row, there are several terms. The first is proportional to the square of the differential on \mathcal{A}_T which we know vanishes from the results of section 5. However, in our extended complex there is also a term proportional to $d_-^{\dagger}d_- = \Delta_-$ (for the top row) and another proportional to $\{d_+, d_+^{\dagger}\} = \Delta_+$. It is not immediately clear that these terms cancel as we do not have a direct analogue of the results of section 5.5 for the heterotic case. However, one can see that these Laplacians are in fact equal by using that the complex $\Omega_+^{0,\bullet}$ is spinor type and the supersymmetry algebra. We have that $\Omega_+^{0,\bullet} \simeq \Gamma(S(C_+))$ and in terms of the spinor variables, the Dirac operator \mathcal{D}_+ (i.e. the analogue of (2.19) for this single complex) corresponds to the Dirac operator appearing in the supersymmetry transformation of the dilatino field ρ , i.e. for $\omega \in \Omega_+^{0,\bullet}$ corresponding to $\theta \in \Gamma(S(C_+))$ we have

$$\mathcal{D}_{+}\omega \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \gamma^{m}D_{m}\theta = \delta_{\theta}\rho \tag{6.45}$$

where $m = (a, \bar{a})$ is a real index for C_+ , so that the Laplacian $\Delta_+ \propto \mathcal{D}_+^2$ comes from

$$\mathcal{D}_{+}^{2}\omega \quad \leftrightarrow \quad (\gamma^{m}D_{m})^{2}\theta = \gamma^{m}D_{m}(\delta_{\theta}\rho) \tag{6.46}$$

We also have that the map d_{-} is given by the corresponding variation of the combined gravitino and gaugino fields $\psi_{\tilde{m}}$

$$D_{\tilde{m}}\omega_{\bar{a}_1...\bar{a}_k} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad D_{\tilde{m}}\theta = \delta_{\theta}\psi_{\tilde{m}} \tag{6.47}$$

so that the corresponding Laplacian is proportional to

$$D^{\tilde{m}}D_{\tilde{m}}\omega_{\bar{a}_1...\bar{a}_k} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad D^{\tilde{m}}D_{\tilde{m}}\theta = D^{\tilde{m}}(\delta_{\theta}\psi_{\tilde{m}}) \tag{6.48}$$

The proportionality of the Laplacians Δ_{\pm} then follows from the closure of the supersymmetry algebra on the ρ equation of motion $\gamma^m D_m \rho - D^{\tilde{m}} \psi_{\tilde{m}} = 0$ (or equivalently the construction of the generalised Ricci scalar as in [51, 64]):

$$\delta_{\theta}(\gamma^m D_m \rho - D^{\tilde{m}} \psi_{\tilde{m}}) = (\gamma^m D_m)^2 \theta - D^{\tilde{m}} D_{\tilde{m}} \theta = -\frac{1}{4} R \theta = 0$$
 (6.49)

where R is the generalised Ricci scalar curvature which vanishes for a supersymmetric Minkowski vacuum.¹⁶ This relation between the Laplacians leads to the result that the total differential d_W on (6.44) squares to zero.

Having established that (6.44) is a complex, which was constructed to have a BV symplectic pairing, one can then write the corresponding Chern-Simons-type BV action, as was done for gauge theories in section 3. It is easy to see that taking an element f_0 of ghost number zero, with components $(\Lambda_{\bar{a}}^{\bar{m}}, \beta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}, \varphi)$, one can apply the differential d_W and use the natural integration against the ψ structure (which has components $\epsilon^{\bar{a}\bar{b}\bar{c}}$ in the SU(3)×SO(6+n) frames as in (6.33)) to recover an expression of the type (6.41) for the inner product

$$S = \langle f_0, \check{\mathbf{d}} f_0 \rangle . \tag{6.50}$$

¹⁶Note that the closure of the supersymmetry algebra on the gravitino (and gaugino) equation of motion $\rlap/D\psi_{\bar m} - D_{\bar m}\rho = 0$ also corresponds to properties of the complex: namely the double complex property $\{d_+, d_-\} = 0$ and the Kähler identity $\{d_+^{\dagger}, d_-\} = 0$.

An element f_{-1} of ghost number one has (complex) components $(V_{\bar{a}}, V^{\tilde{m}})$ which are some of the components of a complex generalised vector V. Viewing f_0 as the parameters of a deformation of the generalised $SU(3) \times SO(6+n)$ structure, taking f_0 to be $d_W f_{-1}$ gives the action of an infinitesimal complexified generalised diffeomorphism on the structure. This is precisely the gauge symmetry of the superpotential theory and we see that (6.44) is indeed the BRST complex of the superpotential theory, which has BV action

$$S = \langle f, \check{\mathbf{d}} f \rangle, \tag{6.51}$$

for f a generic element.

One could be troubled by the fact that (6.44) looks different to the complex for the superpotential theory as described in [111]. In particular, it does not have the structure of a double complex. This is due to the fact that we have expanded the superpotential functional in a different basis of fields. We will show in future work that a field redefinition, corresponding to a different parameterisation of the variation of the generalised structure, provides an equivalence to the complex of [111].

6.4 G_2 heterotic superpotential

We can perform the same analysis for the G_2 heterotic superpotential. Such a background corresponds to an $G_2 \times \mathrm{SO}(7+n)$ structure. Such a structure is defined by a generalised tensor $\psi \in \Gamma(\Lambda^3 E \otimes \det T^*M)$. In a frame $\{\hat{E}_A\} = \{\hat{E}_m^+, \hat{E}_{\tilde{m}}^-\}$ (with $m, n, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, 7$ indices for C_+ and $\tilde{m}, \tilde{n}, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, 7+n$ indices for C_-), we can write

$$\psi = \Phi \chi \,, \qquad \chi = \varphi^{mnp} \hat{E}_m^+ \wedge \hat{E}_n^+ \wedge \hat{E}_p^+ \,, \qquad \Phi = \sqrt{g} e^{-2\phi} \,, \tag{6.52}$$

where φ^{mnp} are the components of a stable 3-form in 7-dimensions (i.e. the components of a G_2 3-form). With this, the (real) superpotential takes the form

$$W \sim \int \Phi \chi^{ABE} \chi^{CD}_E D_{[A} \chi_{BCD]}, \qquad (6.53)$$

where D is any torsion free generalised connection (one can use the same proof as in the previous section to show that W is independent of the choice of torsion free connection). The superpotential W should be compared with [116], where the superpotential was computed from a reduction of the ten-dimensional theory, and shown to reproduce the right supersymmetry conditions.

We would like to take the second variation of this around some on-shell background. This means we are free to choose D to be torsion-free and compatible with the $G_2 \times SO(7 + n)$ structure, in which case the second variation takes the form

$$\delta^2 W \sim \int \left(\delta \Phi \chi^{ABE} \chi^{CD}_E + \Phi \delta \chi^{ABE} \chi^{CD}_E + \Phi \chi^{ABE} \delta \chi^{CD}_E \right) D_{[A} \delta \chi_{BCD]} . \tag{6.54}$$

We can take the following form for the variations

$$\begin{split} \delta\chi^{mnp} &= 3\beta^{[m}{}_{q}\varphi^{np]q} \,, \\ \delta\chi^{\tilde{m}np} &= 3\Lambda^{\tilde{m}}{}_{q}\varphi^{npq} \,, \\ \delta\Phi &= \Lambda\Phi \,, \end{split} \tag{6.55}$$

where $\beta_{mn} \in \Omega_{\mathbf{7}}^{+,2}$, $\Lambda^{\tilde{m}}_{n} \in \Omega_{\mathbf{7}}^{+,1}(C_{-})$, and $\Lambda \in \Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0}$. With this parameterisation, the action (6.54) takes the form

$$\delta^2 W \sim \int 6\varphi^{mnp} \left(2\Lambda D_m \beta_{np} - 3\beta_{mn} D^r \beta_{rp} + 2\Lambda^{\tilde{r}}_{\ m} D_{\tilde{r}} \beta_{np} + 6\Lambda_{\tilde{r}m} D_n \Lambda^{\tilde{r}}_{\ p} \right)$$
 (6.56)

How does this relate to the BPS complexes we have defined? The BPS complex for $G_2 \times SO(7 + n)$ structures takes the form

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0} \xrightarrow{d_{-}} \Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{7}}^{+,2} \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{7}}^{+,1}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,3} \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{7}}^{+,2}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,3}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,3}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,3}(C_{-})$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,3}(C_{-})$$
(6.57)

As before, this does not have a cyclic structure but we can perform the same procedure as for the SU(3) case to write down an extension which does. We find

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0} \qquad \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0}(C_{-}) \qquad \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0}(C_{-}) \qquad \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0} \qquad \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{1}}^{+,0}$$

The maps $\Omega^{+,k}(C_{-}) \to \Omega^{+,k}$ and $\Omega^{+,k+1} \to \Omega^{+,k}$ are precisely the duals of the maps appearing in (6.57) as before. The horizontal levels are defined to have ghost number +2,+1,0,-1,-2,-3, and the symplectic pairing is of degree +1.

We need to determine whether the total complex of (6.58) really defines a complex, i.e. the total derivative squares to 0. The difficult part is the total derivative acting on the top row which will return a term proportional to $d^2\omega \propto (\Delta_+ - \Delta_-)\omega$. Once again, we can use the fact that this complex is a spinor complex and $\Omega^{+,\text{ev}} \simeq \Omega^{+,\text{odd}} \simeq \Gamma(S(C_+))$. The conditions coming from supersymmetry ensure that the left and right Laplacians are equal on the top row, as in (6.49) and hence the total space of (6.58) is a complex.

A generic element f_0 of degree 0 in this complex can be parameterised by $(\Lambda^{\tilde{m}}_n, \beta_{mn}, \Lambda)$. One then finds that the action (6.54) takes the form

$$S = \left\langle f_0, \check{\mathbf{d}} f_0 \right\rangle \tag{6.59}$$

and that the associated BV action is given by a generic element f of the complex

$$S_{\rm BV} = \left\langle f, \check{\mathbf{d}}f \right\rangle$$
 (6.60)

It remains an open and interesting question as to whether a field redefinition of the form used in [111] will allow us to rewrite (6.58) as a double complex. If it is possible then we can immediately write down the 1-loop partition function following the techniques in that paper. Vis-à-vis these questions, see [117], where the second order deformation of the superpotential of [116] is computed giving rise to a double complex, which is then utilised to compute the one-loop partition function. It would be interesting to compare the generalised analysis with this computation.

7 Discussion and outlook

In this work, we have shown that Carrión's prescription to construct a complex associated to Donaldson-Thomas-type instantons of a gauge theory on a manifold with a torsion-free Gstructure is actually part of a much more general picture. This includes gravitational instantons (i.e. torsion-free G-structures themselves) and supergravity instantons (i.e. supersymmetric backgrounds, or equivalently torsion-free generalised G-structures). We have shown how to construct these more general complexes, which we have labelled BPS complexes, via information from only the (generalised) G-structure. Further, we have shown that for particular choices of the group G, these BPS complexes become equivalent to spinors and the corresponding differentials and their adjoints are packaged together into the Dirac operator acting on those spinors. This observation provided elegant general proofs of statements relating the Laplacian on the BPS complex to the de Rham Laplacian, or its H-twisted version in the generalised geometry case. Thus far, these relations had been noted in specific cases and proved by direct calculations, whose shape appears to have little in common between the cases [67, 68]. The spinorial description thus provides a pleasing general structure to these results, as well as suggesting strong connections between these constructions and supersymmetry. It remains an interesting problem in algebra to find an elegant classification of the groups and subgroups for which the BPS complexes are spinor type in this sense, and to extract possible connections to the theory of pure spinors.

We also explored how, in cases where the BPS complex has a BV symplectic pairing, one can write a quadratic BV actions associated to it. The classical on-shell states of these theories are those for which the gauge field is closed in the differential on the BPS complex, and thus are instantons in the relevant sense. These actions reproduced the linearised versions of many Chern-Simons gauge theories that have been of interest over the years. One could thus view the construction as a way to construct interesting gauge theories of instantons associated to G-structures, using only their algebraic data, as the construction of the BPS complex is essentially a purely algebraic prescription. We also briefly noted that for cases which do not have a BV symplectic pairing of this type, there are other constructions of actions that one could perform. For example, for structure groups SU(2) in four dimensions or Spin(7) or SU(4) in eight dimensions one could proceed as in (6.43) to produce a new complex equipped with a symplectic pairing and then write an action.

For the generalised $G \subset O(d, d+n)$ structures appearing in heterotic and type II supersymmetric backgrounds, we have also found that the BPS complex possess significant additional structure. In particular, whenever the structure group has the form $G_+ \times G_-$ such that one can associate G_{\pm} with the left- and right-moving modes of the string, the BPS complex becomes a double complex, which is the tensor product of the left- and right-moving gauge theory BPS complexes. Further, we have seen that these satisfy Kähler identities.

In the cases of heterotic structures $G \times \mathrm{SO}(d+n)$, we were able to relate these double complexes fairly directly to prior works on heterotic moduli [43, 44], and in spinor type cases, key properties of the complex such as the equality of the Laplacian Δ_+ and Δ_- on the first row of the BPS complex could be expressed as the closure of the supersymmetry algebra on the fermion equations of motion. In the case of $\mathrm{SU}(3) \times \mathrm{SO}(6+n)$ in six-dimensions, ot three complex dimensions, we were able to construct a mild extension of the BPS complex to describe the BRST-BV complex of the superpotential theory, and this equality of Laplacians was crucial for consistency. Moreover, without prior knowledge of the superpotential theory, the extended BPS complex could be motivated by wishing for the existence of a BV symplectic pairing, such that one could write an associated BV action. In this way, one could have reconstructed the superpotential theory at quadratic order starting from the BPS complex. This provides, admittedly with considerable hindsight, another example of the use of this formalism to construct interesting action functionals, also in complex dimensions other than three.

Perhaps the most elegant of our examples, though, are the spinor type complexes in O(d,d) geometries relevant to type II strings. These were shown to satisfy not only the Kähler identities but also the equality of the left- and right-moving Laplacians, which further gives rise to a $\partial \partial$ -lemma. In many ways, these BPS complexes thus behave much like the double complex of (p,q)-forms on a Kähler manifold. The equality of the Laplacians Δ_{\pm} and their relation to the (H-twisted) de Rham Laplacian can further be interpreted as target space artefacts of the level matching and mass-shell conditions on the worldsheet. Examples of these spinor type complexes were shown in previous work [67] to describe the physical operators on the worldsheets of (quasi-)topological strings. Our treatment here provides elegant general proofs of the properties of these double complexes that were previously derived by direct calculation in the specific cases considered. Further, we have provided a more general structure to the target space actions associated to these theories as a kind of Aeppli-Chern-Simons theory in which the diagonal complex of the double complex provides the ghost number zero field content, with the second order differential d₊d₋ providing the kinetic operators. The ghost number zero physical states thus become the Aeppli cohomologies of the double complex, while the gauge structure involves complexes of a similar nature to those appearing in [106–109]. We aim to explore the further general properties of these theories in future work.

There are many other directions in which one could hope to extend and apply this construction. For example, one could consider weakening the conditions on the torsion of the underlying G-structure. Throughout this article we have taken our G-structures to be torsion-free, which corresponds to supersymmetric Minkowski vacua (on the external space part of a compactification) in the gravitational cases. However, it is known that in Carrión's original construction, only some of the intrinsic torsion classes are required to vanish for the

complex to exist. For example, for $\mathrm{U}(N)$ structures in 2N dimensions, one only requires that the manifold be complex (rather than Kähler) for the usual Dolbeault complex to exist. One could explore if, in particular, one could allow a constant singlet torsion, with accompanying non-zero scalar curvature, to define similar structures on supersymmetric AdS vacua. It may also be possible to test for the existence of torsion-free structures by comparing Bott-Chern or Aeppli type cohomologies against the full cohomology of the complex as one does in usual Kähler geometry. It would also be interesting to see if one can connect the cohomology of these complexes to sheaf cohomologies via Poincaré lemmas.

One could also consider corresponding statements in exceptional generalised geometries [118–120] describing the internal sectors of eleven-dimensional supergravity and type II theories including RR fluxes. Here, there is a clear picture of how to proceed. In the O(d, d+n) geometries, the graded vector space $\Lambda^{\bullet}(E)$ which we start with has a physical interpretation as the tensor hierarchy [121, 122] of the supergravity theory, which can be seen as the analogue of the de Rham complex in generalised geometry [123, 124]. Notice that in O(d,d) geometry, there is an alternative analogue, which is given by the weighted spinors that can be represented as polyforms on the manifold. Our spinor type complexes thus provide a concrete relation between these two objects in the case of $\mathcal{N}=2$ backgrounds. The bundles corresponding to the tensor hierarchy are known for exceptional geometries [125]. While the algebraic product on this is more complicated, one can still use it to generate a subspace from the Lie algebra of the structure group $\mathfrak{g} \subset E \otimes E^*$. The resulting quotient will then contain the full tower of ghosts for the generalised diffeomorphism symmetry, the infinitesimal deformations of a G-frame and the intrinsic torsion space so that it will give the infinitesimal moduli of the structure as in section 6.1 of the present article. An analogue of the superpotential complex can also be constructed for the J structure in the $E_{7(7)}$ case, as one would expect. We hope to provide details of this construction in future work. There are substantial complications in applying the methods that we use here in the exceptional context. In particular, the absence of a generalised Riemann tensor would seem to obstruct proofs of the types we have employed in section 5 (though see [126] for some recent ideas). The construction of these complexes in exceptional geometry may therefore shed light on how to construct such Riemann tensors. It would also be curious to examine whether there is an analogue of spinor type complexes in exceptional geometry, producing an analogue of spinorial representations of the exceptional groups. Unlike in the cases we examine here, these representations may be infinite-dimensional.

One can also view the double complexes appearing in the O(d, d) cases as double copy constructions, where a gravitational theory can be seen as the product of two gauge theories (see [127, 128] and references therein). In particular, these would be examples where the background geometry is non-trivial. The BPS complex is the tensor product of two gauge theory BPS complexes, one for each of the left- and right-moving string sectors, with differentials constructed from the corresponding generalised connections. The double copy one finds is perturbative around a supersymmetric supergravity background equipped with two gauge theory instanton solutions. The cohomologies representing the on-shell deformations of these instantons have harmonic representatives in the Laplacians Δ_{\pm} . As these Laplacians are equal, one can then simply take the tensor product of two such deformations to get a

harmonic deformation of the supergravity background. This is precisely a classical double copy relation. The double copy has been applied to topological gauge theories previously in [129, 130] and to four-dimensional instantons in [131, 132]. Our construction provides a linearised version for a wide class of theories of instantons.

While in this work we have considered only the linearised theories, corresponding to the infinitesimal deformations of the underlying instanton solutions, one could also wish to study the non-linear deformation theory, or correspondingly the interacting field theories. For the Chern-Simons gauge theories and the superpotential theories [110], the interactions are known. It would be curious to see whether there is an elegant systematic construction of them extending our work here. As a first step in this direction, it would be interesting to compute the index of the corresponding deformation complexes, counting the expected, or "virtual", dimension of the moduli space. This is of particular interest for $\mathcal{N}=1$ backgrounds, where one might expect a vanishing index, and thus a zero-dimensional virtual moduli space. It is tempting to speculate whether analogs of Donaldson-Thomas invariants [72, 73] can be defined in these cases, and if the index has something to say about the true nature of the physical moduli space, and indeed the string theory moduli problem, when all higher order and non-perturbative corrections are included.

We also expect that the BPS complex will be useful in the study quantum aspects of the corresponding (quasi-)topological theories. For example, anomalies are often phrased in terms of curvature polynomials on a "universal geometry",¹⁷ as for example with the holomorphic anomaly of Kodaira-Spencer theory [6, 133]. The Universal geometry picture was first considered by Atiyah-Singer in [134], and further developed in [135–138] in the study of Donaldson theory and Donaldson invariants. A Universal geometry picture has also been developed for six-dimensional heterotic geometries [139–141], where it was observed that the universal geometry has many features mimicking that of the underlying geometric structure. We hence expect that the technology presented here will be useful for in pursuing these ideas in more generality, e.g. in defining analogs of Donaldson invariants, and we hope to explore these ideas further in the future.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Anthony Ashmore, Leron Borsten, Xenia de la Ossa, Simon Jonsson, Hyungrok Kim, Magdalena Larfors, Matthew Magill, Pavol Ševera, Dan Waldram and Charles Young for helpful discussions. C.S.-C. and F.V. are supported by an EPSRC New Investigator Award, grant number EP/X014959/1. No new data was collected or generated during the course of this research. D.T. is supported by the NSF grant PHYS-2112859. C.S.-C., D.T. and F.V. acknowledge hospitality from Simons Center for Geometry and Physics during the programme "Supergravity, Generalized Geometry and Ricci Flow" at which some of this research was performed. C.S.-C. and E.S. acknowledge hospitality from the MATRIX institute programme "New Deformations of Quantum Field and Gravity Theories" at which some of this research was performed.

¹⁷In the Universal geometry picture, one thinks of the manifold, together with the geometric structure of interest, as a fibration over the moduli space of said geometric structure.

A Gamma matrix decompositions

Here we provide some details of the decomposition of the $\operatorname{Cliff}(d,d;\mathbb{R})$ gamma matrices Γ^A in terms of two sets of generators γ^a and $\gamma^{\bar{a}}$ for $\operatorname{Cliff}(d,\mathbb{R})$, thought of as attached to the bundles C_{\pm} . As above, we have $A,B=1,\ldots,2d$ is an O(d,d) vector index and $a,b=1,\ldots,d$ and $\bar{a},\bar{b}=1,\ldots,d$ are vector indices for C_{\pm} . We also write that $\gamma^{(d)}=\gamma^1\ldots\gamma^d$.

For d odd, we can decompose Γ^A as:

$$\Gamma^{a} = \gamma^{a} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma^{1} \qquad \Gamma^{\bar{a}} = \mathbb{1} \otimes \gamma^{\bar{a}} \otimes i\sigma^{2}$$
(A.1)

where σ^i are the Pauli matrices and we take the matrices γ^a and $\gamma^{\bar{a}}$ to generate irreducible representations of $\text{Cliff}(d,\mathbb{R})$ for odd d so that $\gamma^{(d)}$ is proportional to the identity. The Spin(d,d) spinor thus decomposes as

$$S(E) = S(C_{+}) \otimes S(C_{-}) \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2} \qquad \Psi = \sum_{i} \zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-} \otimes t$$
(A.2)

where $\zeta_{\pm} \in S(C_{\pm})$ and t is an auxiliary vector in \mathbb{R}^2 . This auxiliary vector is necessary to account for the fact that the Clifford algebra representations are real spaces, and one is really taking the tensor products over \mathbb{R} , despite that they are often expressed in terms of complex components. This means that, for example, one must think of \mathbb{C} as a subalgebra of 2×2 real matrices. From (A.1) One can then easily see that

$$\Gamma^a \Gamma^b = (\gamma^a \gamma^b) \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \qquad \qquad \Gamma^{\bar{a}} \Gamma^{\bar{b}} = -\mathbb{1} \otimes (\gamma^{\bar{a}} \gamma^{\bar{b}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}$$
(A.3)

For d=4n, we have $(\gamma^{(d)})^2=+\mathbb{1}$ so that we can decompose Γ^A as:

$$\Gamma^a = \gamma^a \otimes \mathbb{1} \qquad \Gamma^{\bar{a}} = \gamma^{(d)} \otimes \gamma^{\bar{a}} \gamma^{(d)}$$
 (A.4)

so that the Spin(d, d) spinor decomposes as

$$S(E) = S(C_{+}) \otimes S(C_{-}) \qquad \Psi = \sum_{+} \zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-}$$
(A.5)

where $\zeta_{\pm} \in S(C_{\pm})$. Again one has

$$\Gamma^{a}\Gamma^{b} = (\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}) \otimes \mathbb{1} \qquad \Gamma^{\bar{a}}\Gamma^{\bar{b}} = -\mathbb{1} \otimes (\gamma^{\bar{a}}\gamma^{\bar{b}}) \tag{A.6}$$

For d = 4n + 2, we have $(\gamma^{(d)})^2 = -1$ so that we can decompose Γ^A as:

$$\Gamma^a = \gamma^a \otimes \mathbb{1} \qquad \Gamma^{\bar{a}} = \gamma^{(d)} \otimes \gamma^{\bar{a}}$$
 (A.7)

so that the Spin(d, d) spinor decomposes as

$$S(E) = S(C_{+}) \otimes S(C_{-}) \qquad \Psi = \sum_{+} \zeta_{+} \otimes \zeta_{-}$$
 (A.8)

where $\zeta_{\pm} \in S(C_{\pm})$ and again

$$\Gamma^a \Gamma^b = (\gamma^a \gamma^b) \otimes \mathbb{1} \qquad \Gamma^{\bar{a}} \Gamma^{\bar{b}} = -\mathbb{1} \otimes (\gamma^{\bar{a}} \gamma^{\bar{b}})$$
 (A.9)

We have thus established equations (5.60) in all cases.

Data Availability Statement. This article has no associated data or the data will not be deposited.

Code Availability Statement. This article has no associated code or the code will not be deposited.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] E. Witten, Topological quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 117 (1988) 353 [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Witten, Quantum field theory and the Jones polynomial, Commun. Math. Phys. 121 (1989) 351 [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Witten, Topological sigma models, Commun. Math. Phys. 118 (1988) 411 [INSPIRE].
- [4] C. Vafa, Topological Landau-Ginzburg models, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 6 (1991) 337 [INSPIRE].
- [5] E. Witten, Mirror manifolds and topological field theory, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 9 (1998) 121 [hep-th/9112056] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M. Bershadsky, S. Cecotti, H. Ooguri and C. Vafa, Kodaira-Spencer theory of gravity and exact results for quantum string amplitudes, Commun. Math. Phys. 165 (1994) 311
 [hep-th/9309140] [INSPIRE].
- I. Antoniadis, E. Gava, K.S. Narain and T.R. Taylor, Topological amplitudes in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 413 (1994) 162 [hep-th/9307158] [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Budzik et al., Feynman diagrams in four-dimensional holomorphic theories and the Operatope, JHEP 07 (2023) 127 [arXiv:2207.14321] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A.D. Popov, Holomorphic analogs of topological gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 473 (2000) 65 [hep-th/9909135] [INSPIRE].
- [10] K.J. Costello, Notes on supersymmetric and holomorphic field theories in dimensions 2 and 4, Pure Appl. Math. Quart. **09** (2013) 73 [arXiv:1111.4234] [INSPIRE].
- [11] B.R. Williams, Renormalization for holomorphic field theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 374 (2020) 1693 [arXiv:1809.02661] [INSPIRE].
- [12] L. Baulieu and I.M. Singer, Topological Yang-Mills symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 5 (1988) 12 [INSPIRE].
- [13] C. Vafa and E. Witten, A strong coupling test of S duality, Nucl. Phys. B 431 (1994) 3 [hep-th/9408074] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Blau and G. Thompson, Aspects of $N_T \ge 2$ topological gauge theories and D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 492 (1997) 545 [hep-th/9612143] [INSPIRE].
- [15] L. Baulieu, H. Kanno and I.M. Singer, Special quantum field theories in eight-dimensions and other dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 194 (1998) 149 [hep-th/9704167] [INSPIRE].
- [16] B.S. Acharya, J.M. Figueroa-O'Farrill, B.J. Spence and M. O'Loughlin, Euclidean D-branes and higher dimensional gauge theory, Nucl. Phys. B 514 (1998) 583 [hep-th/9707118] [INSPIRE].
- [17] L. Baulieu, A. Losev and N. Nekrasov, Chern-Simons and twisted supersymmetry in various dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 522 (1998) 82 [hep-th/9707174] [INSPIRE].
- [18] A. Kapustin and E. Witten, Electric-magnetic duality and the geometric Langlands program, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 1 (2007) 1 [hep-th/0604151] [INSPIRE].

- [19] C. Elliott, P. Safronov and B.R. Williams, A taxonomy of twists of supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Selecta Math. 28 (2022) 73 [arXiv:2002.10517] [INSPIRE].
- [20] B.S. Acharya, M. O'Loughlin and B.J. Spence, Higher dimensional analogs of Donaldson-Witten theory, Nucl. Phys. B 503 (1997) 657 [hep-th/9705138] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Blau and G. Thompson, Euclidean SYM theories by time reduction and special holonomy manifolds, Phys. Lett. B 415 (1997) 242 [hep-th/9706225] [INSPIRE].
- [22] E. Corrigan, C. Devchand, D.B. Fairlie and J. Nuyts, First order equations for gauge fields in spaces of dimension greater than four, Nucl. Phys. B 214 (1983) 452 [INSPIRE].
- [23] R.S. Ward, Completely solvable gauge field equations in dimension greater than four, Nucl. Phys. B 236 (1984) 381 [INSPIRE].
- [24] M.F. Atiyah, N.J. Hitchin, V.G. Drinfeld and Y.I. Manin, Construction of instantons, Phys. Lett. A 65 (1978) 185 [INSPIRE].
- [25] N. Dorey, T.J. Hollowood, V.V. Khoze and M.P. Mattis, *The calculus of many instantons, Phys. Rept.* **371** (2002) 231 [hep-th/0206063] [INSPIRE].
- [26] X. de la Ossa, M. Larfors and E.E. Svanes, Infinitesimal moduli of G2 holonomy manifolds with instanton bundles, JHEP 11 (2016) 016 [arXiv:1607.03473] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Bunk, V. Muñoz and C.S. Shahbazi, The local moduli space of the Einstein-Yang-Mills system, arXiv:2311.07572 [DOI:10.4310/AJM.250717210630.] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A.A. Silva, M. Garcia-Fernandez, J.D. Lotay and H.N.S. Earp, Coupled G_2 -instantons, arXiv:2404.12937 [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Bianchi, M.B. Green, S. Kovacs and G. Rossi, Instantons in supersymmetric Yang-Mills and D instantons in IIB superstring theory, JHEP 08 (1998) 013 [hep-th/9807033] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M.R. Douglas, Branes within branes, NATO Sci. Ser. C 520 (1999) 267 [hep-th/9512077] [INSPIRE].
- [31] K. Costello and S. Li, Twisted supergravity and its quantization, arXiv:1606.00365 [INSPIRE].
- [32] K. Costello and D. Gaiotto, Twisted holography, JHEP 01 (2025) 087 [arXiv:1812.09257] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [34] R. Eager and F. Hahner, Maximally twisted eleven-dimensional supergravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 398 (2023) 59 [arXiv:2106.15640] [INSPIRE].
- [35] I. Saberi and B.R. Williams, Twisting pure spinor superfields, with applications to supergravity, Pure Appl. Math. Quart. 20 (2024) 645 [arXiv:2106.15639] [INSPIRE].
- [36] K. Costello and B.R. Williams, Twisted heterotic/type I duality, arXiv:2110.14616 [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Raghavendran, I. Saberi and B.R. Williams, Twisted eleven-dimensional supergravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 402 (2023) 1103 [arXiv:2111.03049] [INSPIRE].
- [38] F. Hahner, Saberi, and Ingmar, Eleven-dimensional supergravity as a Calabi-Yau twofold, Selecta Math. 31 (2025) 38 [arXiv:2304.12371] [INSPIRE].
- [39] M. Cederwall, Pure spinor superfields an overview, Springer Proc. Phys. 153 (2014) 61 [arXiv:1307.1762] [INSPIRE].

- [40] R. Eager, F. Hahner, I. Saberi and B.R. Williams, Perspectives on the pure spinor superfield formalism, J. Geom. Phys. 180 (2022) 104626 [arXiv:2111.01162] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Cederwall, S. Jonsson, J. Palmkvist and I. Saberi, Canonical supermultiplets and their Koszul duals, Commun. Math. Phys. 405 (2024) 127 [arXiv:2304.01258] [INSPIRE].
- [42] R. Reyes Carrion, A generalization of the notion of instanton, Differ. Geom. Appl. 8 (1998) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [43] X. de la Ossa and E.E. Svanes, Holomorphic bundles and the moduli space of N=1 supersymmetric heterotic compactifications, JHEP 10 (2014) 123 [arXiv:1402.1725] [INSPIRE].
- [44] X. de la Ossa, M. Larfors and E.E. Svanes, The infinitesimal moduli space of heterotic G_2 systems, Commun. Math. Phys. **360** (2018) 727 [arXiv:1704.08717] [INSPIRE].
- [45] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray and E. Sharpe, Algebroids, heterotic moduli spaces and the Strominger system, JHEP 07 (2014) 037 [arXiv:1402.1532] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M. Garcia-Fernandez, R. Rubio and C. Tipler, Infinitesimal moduli for the Strominger system and Killing spinors in generalized geometry, Math. Ann. 369 (2017) 539 [arXiv:1503.07562] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Garcia-Fernandez, R. Rubio and C. Tipler, *Holomorphic string algebroids*, *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.* **373** (2020) 7347 [arXiv:1807.10329] [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Garcia-Fernandez, R. Rubio and C. Tipler, Gauge theory for string algebroids, J. Diff. Geom. 128 (2024) 77 [arXiv:2004.11399] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Hitchin, Generalized Calabi-Yau manifolds, Quart. J. Math. 54 (2003) 281.
- [50] M. Gualtieri, Generalized complex geometry, Ph.D. thesis, Oxford U., Oxford, U.K. (2003) [math/0401221] [INSPIRE].
- [51] A. Coimbra, C. Strickland-Constable and D. Waldram, Supergravity as generalised geometry I: type II theories, JHEP 11 (2011) 091 [arXiv:1107.1733] [INSPIRE].
- [52] M. Grana, R. Minasian, M. Petrini and A. Tomasiello, Supersymmetric backgrounds from generalized Calabi-Yau manifolds, JHEP 08 (2004) 046 [hep-th/0406137] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Grana, R. Minasian, M. Petrini and A. Tomasiello, Generalized structures of N=1 vacua, JHEP 11 (2005) 020 [hep-th/0505212] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Coimbra, C. Strickland-Constable and D. Waldram, Supersymmetric backgrounds and generalised special holonomy, Class. Quant. Grav. 33 (2016) 125026 [arXiv:1411.5721] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Coimbra and C. Strickland-Constable, Supersymmetric backgrounds, the Killing superalgebra, and generalised special holonomy, JHEP 11 (2016) 063 [arXiv:1606.09304] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Coimbra and C. Strickland-Constable, Generalised structures for N=1 AdS backgrounds, JHEP 11 (2016) 092 [arXiv:1504.02465] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Ashmore, M. Petrini and D. Waldram, The exceptional generalised geometry of supersymmetric AdS flux backgrounds, JHEP 12 (2016) 146 [arXiv:1602.02158] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Coimbra and C. Strickland-Constable, Supersymmetric AdS backgrounds and weak generalised holonomy, arXiv:1710.04156 [INSPIRE].
- [59] A. Ashmore, C. Strickland-Constable, D. Tennyson and D. Waldram, Generalising G₂ geometry: involutivity, moment maps and moduli, JHEP **01** (2021) 158 [arXiv:1910.04795] [INSPIRE].

- [60] A. Ashmore, C. Strickland-Constable, D. Tennyson and D. Waldram, Heterotic backgrounds via generalised geometry: moment maps and moduli, JHEP 11 (2020) 071 [arXiv:1912.09981] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Tennyson and D. Waldram, Exceptional complex structures and the hypermultiplet moduli of 5d Minkowski compactifications of M-theory, JHEP 08 (2021) 088 [arXiv:2104.09900] [INSPIRE].
- [62] G.R. Smith and D. Waldram, M-theory moduli from exceptional complex structures, JHEP 08 (2023) 022 [arXiv:2211.09517] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Garcia-Fernandez, Torsion-free generalized connections and heterotic supergravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 332 (2014) 89 [arXiv:1304.4294] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Coimbra, R. Minasian, H. Triendl and D. Waldram, Generalised geometry for string corrections, JHEP 11 (2014) 160 [arXiv:1407.7542] [INSPIRE].
- [65] J. McOrist and E.E. Svanes, Heterotic quantum cohomology, JHEP 11 (2022) 096 [arXiv:2110.06549] [INSPIRE].
- [66] J. McOrist, S. Picard and E.E. Svanes, A heterotic hermitian-Yang-Mills equivalence, Commun. Math. Phys. 406 (2025) 107 [arXiv:2402.10354] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Ashmore et al., Topological G_2 and Spin(7) strings at 1-loop from double complexes, JHEP 02 (2022) 089 [arXiv:2108.09310] [INSPIRE].
- [68] R.L. Bryant, Some remarks on G_2 -structures, math/0305124 [INSPIRE].
- [69] G.R. Cavalcanti, Hodge theory of SKT manifolds, Adv. Math. 374 (2020) 107270 [arXiv:1203.0493] [INSPIRE].
- [70] R. Goto, On deformations of generalized Calabi-Yau, hyperKähler, G₂ and Spin(7) structures I, math/0512211.
- [71] C. Jeschek and F. Witt, Generalised G_2 -structures and type IIb superstrings, JHEP **03** (2005) 053 [hep-th/0412280] [INSPIRE].
- [72] R. Thomas and R.P. Thomas, *Gauge theory on Calabi-Yau manifolds*, Ph.D. thesis, University of Oxford, Oxford, U.K. (1997).
- [73] S.K. Donaldson and R.P. Thomas, Gauge theory in higher dimensions, in Conference on geometric issues in foundations of science in honor of sir Roger Penrose's 65th birthday, (1996), p. 31.
- [74] H.N. Sa Earp, *Instantons on G*₂-manifolds, Ph.D. thesis, Imperial College, London, U.K. (2009).
- [75] K. Costello, Supersymmetric gauge theory and the Yangian, arXiv:1303.2632 [INSPIRE].
- [76] J. de Boer, A. Naqvi and A. Shomer, The topological G₂ string, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 12 (2008) 243 [hep-th/0506211] [INSPIRE].
- [77] V. Pestun and E. Witten, The Hitchin functionals and the topological B-model at one loop, Lett. Math. Phys. 74 (2005) 21 [hep-th/0503083] [INSPIRE].
- [78] B.E.W. Nilsson, Pure spinors as auxiliary fields in the ten-dimensional supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Class. Quant. Grav. 3 (1986) L41 [INSPIRE].
- [79] P.S. Howe, Pure spinors, function superspaces and supergravity theories in ten-dimensions and eleven-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 273 (1991) 90 [INSPIRE].

- [80] N. Berkovits, Super Poincaré covariant quantization of the superstring, JHEP 04 (2000) 018 [hep-th/0001035] [INSPIRE].
- [81] N. Berkovits, Covariant quantization of the superparticle using pure spinors, JHEP **09** (2001) 016 [hep-th/0105050] [INSPIRE].
- [82] M. Cederwall, B.E.W. Nilsson and D. Tsimpis, *Spinorial cohomology and maximally supersymmetric theories*, *JHEP* **02** (2002) 009 [hep-th/0110069] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Cederwall, D=11 supergravity with manifest supersymmetry, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 25 (2010) 3201 [arXiv:1001.0112] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S.K. Donaldson and P.B. Kronheimer, The geometry of four-manifolds, Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K. (1997).
- [85] B.S. Acharya and M. O'Loughlin, Selfduality in $D \le 8$ -dimensional Euclidean gravity, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) R4521 [hep-th/9612182] [INSPIRE].
- [86] A.S. Schwarz, The partition function of degenerate quadratic functional and Ray-Singer invariants, Lett. Math. Phys. 2 (1978) 247 [INSPIRE].
- [87] A.S. Schwarz, The partition function of a degenerate functional, Commun. Math. Phys. 67 (1979) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [88] E. Stiefel, Richtungsfelder und Fernparallelismus in n-dimensionalen Mannigfaltigkeiten (in German), Comment. Math. Helv. 8 (1935) 305.
- [89] T. Walpuski, Gauge theory on G_2 -manifolds, Ph.D. thesis, Imperial College, London, U.K. (2013).
- [90] H.N. Sa Earp, Generalised Chern-Simons theory and G_2 -instantons over associative fibrations, SIGMA 10 (2014) 083 [arXiv:1401.5462] [INSPIRE].
- [91] S. Lacroix, Four-dimensional Chern-Simons theory and integrable field theories, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 083001 [arXiv:2109.14278] [INSPIRE].
- [92] R. Goto, Moduli spaces of topological calibrations, Calabi-Yau, hyperKähler, G₂ and Spin(7) structures, Int. J. Math. **15** (2004) 211.
- [93] D. Huybrechts, Complex geometry: an introduction, Springer-Verlag (2005) [DOI:10.1007/b137952].
- [94] Z.-J. Liu, A. Weinstein and P. Xu, Manin triples for Lie bialgebroids, J. Diff. Geom. 45 (1997) 547 [dg-ga/9508013] [INSPIRE].
- [95] P. Ševera, Letters to Alan Weinstein about Courant algebroids, arXiv:1707.00265 [INSPIRE].
- [96] P. Ševera, Poisson-Lie T-duality and Courant algebroids, Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015) 1689 [arXiv:1502.04517] [INSPIRE].
- [97] A. Alekseev and P. Xu, Derived brackets and Courant algebroids, unfinished manuscript (2002).
- [98] M. Garcia-Fernandez, Ricci flow, Killing spinors, and T-duality in generalized geometry, Adv. Math. 350 (2019) 1059 [arXiv:1611.08926] [INSPIRE].
- [99] W. Siegel, Superspace duality in low-energy superstrings, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 2826 [hep-th/9305073] [INSPIRE].
- [100] O. Hohm and B. Zwiebach, On the Riemann tensor in double field theory, JHEP 05 (2012) 126 [arXiv:1112.5296] [INSPIRE].

- [101] B. Jurco and J. Vysoky, Courant algebroid connections and string effective actions, in the proceedings of the Workshop on strings, membranes and topological field theory, (2017) [D0I:10.1142/9789813144613_0005] [arXiv:1612.01540] [INSPIRE].
- [102] A. Kapustin and Y. Li, Topological sigma-models with H-flux and twisted generalized complex manifolds, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 11 (2007) 269 [hep-th/0407249] [INSPIRE].
- [103] M. Gualtieri, Generalized Kähler geometry, arXiv:1007.3485 [INSPIRE].
- [104] A. Ashmore and D. Waldram, Exceptional Calabi-Yau spaces: the geometry of N=2 backgrounds with flux, Fortsch. Phys. 65 (2017) 1600109 [arXiv:1510.00022] [INSPIRE].
- [105] C. Hull and B. Zwiebach, Double field theory, JHEP 09 (2009) 099 [arXiv:0904.4664] [INSPIRE].
- [106] L.-S. Tseng and S.-T. Yau, Cohomology and Hodge theory on symplectic manifolds. I, J. Diff. Geom. 91 (2012) 383 [arXiv:0909.5418] [INSPIRE].
- [107] L.-S. Tseng and S.-T. Yau, Cohomology and Hodge theory on symplectic manifolds. II, J. Diff. Geom. 91 (2012) 417 [arXiv:1011.1250] [INSPIRE].
- [108] L.-S. Tseng and S.-T. Yau, Generalized cohomologies and supersymmetry, Commun. Math. Phys. 326 (2014) 875 [arXiv:1111.6968] [INSPIRE].
- [109] J.J. Murgas Ibarra, P.-K. Oehlmann, F. Ruehle and E.E. Svanes, A heterotic Kähler gravity and the distance conjecture, JHEP 01 (2025) 168 [arXiv:2406.04393] [INSPIRE].
- [110] A. Ashmore et al., Finite deformations from a heterotic superpotential: holomorphic Chern-Simons and an L_{∞} algebra, JHEP 10 (2018) 179 [arXiv:1806.08367] [INSPIRE].
- [111] A. Ashmore et al., A heterotic Kodaira-Spencer theory at one-loop, JHEP 10 (2023) 130 [arXiv:2306.10106] [INSPIRE].
- [112] S. Gurrieri, A. Lukas and A. Micu, Heterotic on half-flat, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 126009 [hep-th/0408121] [INSPIRE].
- [113] X. de la Ossa, E. Hardy and E.E. Svanes, The heterotic superpotential and moduli, JHEP 01 (2016) 049 [arXiv:1509.08724] [INSPIRE].
- [114] J. McOrist, On the effective field theory of heterotic vacua, Lett. Math. Phys. 108 (2018) 1031 [arXiv:1606.05221] [INSPIRE].
- [115] O. Hohm and B. Zwiebach, L_{∞} algebras and field theory, Fortsch. Phys. **65** (2017) 1700014 [arXiv:1701.08824] [INSPIRE].
- [116] X. de Ia Ossa, M. Larfors, M. Magill and E.E. Svanes, Superpotential of three dimensional N=1 heterotic supergravity, JHEP 01 (2020) 195 [arXiv:1904.01027] [INSPIRE].
- [117] X. de la Ossa, M. Larfors, M. Magill and E.E. Svanes, Quantum aspects of heterotic G_2 systems, arXiv:2412.14715 [INSPIRE].
- [118] P. Pires Pacheco and D. Waldram, M-theory, exceptional generalised geometry and superpotentials, JHEP 09 (2008) 123 [arXiv:0804.1362] [INSPIRE].
- [119] C.M. Hull, Generalised geometry for M-theory, JHEP 07 (2007) 079 [hep-th/0701203] [INSPIRE].
- [120] A. Coimbra, C. Strickland-Constable and D. Waldram, $E_{d(d)} \times \mathbb{R}^+$ generalised geometry, connections and M theory, JHEP **02** (2014) 054 [arXiv:1112.3989] [INSPIRE].
- [121] B. de Wit and H. Samtleben, Gauged maximal supergravities and hierarchies of nonAbelian vector-tensor systems, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 442 [hep-th/0501243] [INSPIRE].

- [122] B. de Wit, H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben, Gauged supergravities, tensor hierarchies, and M-theory, JHEP 02 (2008) 044 [arXiv:0801.1294] [INSPIRE].
- [123] O. Hohm and Y.-N. Wang, Tensor hierarchy and generalized Cartan calculus in $SL(3) \times SL(2)$ exceptional field theory, JHEP **04** (2015) 050 [arXiv:1501.01600] [INSPIRE].
- [124] Y.-N. Wang, Generalized Cartan calculus in general dimension, JHEP 07 (2015) 114 [arXiv:1504.04780] [INSPIRE].
- [125] J. Palmkvist, The tensor hierarchy algebra, J. Math. Phys. **55** (2014) 011701 [arXiv:1305.0018] [INSPIRE].
- [126] F. Hassler and Y. Sakatani, Hierarchy of curvatures in exceptional geometry, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 106002 [arXiv:2311.12095] [INSPIRE].
- [127] Z. Bern et al., The duality between color and kinematics and its applications, J. Phys. A 57 (2024) 333002 [arXiv:1909.01358] [INSPIRE].
- [128] C.D. White, *The classical double copy*, World Scientific, Singapore (2024) [DOI:10.1142/q0457] [INSPIRE].
- [129] M. Ben-Shahar and H. Johansson, Off-shell color-kinematics duality for Chern-Simons, JHEP 08 (2022) 035 [arXiv:2112.11452] [INSPIRE].
- [130] R. Bonezzi, F. Diaz-Jaramillo and O. Hohm, Double copy of 3D Chern-Simons theory and 6D Kodaira-Spencer gravity, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024) 045024 [arXiv:2404.16830] [INSPIRE].
- [131] R. Alawadhi, D.S. Berman, C.D. White and S. Wikeley, *The single copy of the gravitational holonomy*, *JHEP* **10** (2021) 229 [arXiv:2107.01114] [INSPIRE].
- [132] K. Armstrong-Williams, C.D. White and S. Wikeley, Non-perturbative aspects of the self-dual double copy, JHEP 08 (2022) 160 [arXiv:2205.02136] [INSPIRE].
- [133] M. Bershadsky, S. Cecotti, H. Ooguri and C. Vafa, *Holomorphic anomalies in topological field theories*, *Nucl. Phys. B* **405** (1993) 279 [hep-th/9302103] [INSPIRE].
- [134] M.F. Atiyah and I.M. Singer, Dirac operators coupled to vector potentials, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 81 (1984) 2597 [INSPIRE].
- [135] S.K. Donaldson, Polynomial invariants for smooth four-manifolds, Topology 29 (1990) 257 [INSPIRE].
- [136] S.K. Donaldson, The orientation of Yang-Mills moduli spaces and 4-manifold topology, J. Diff. Geom. 26 (1987)

 | Sbl:err:pages > .
- [137] E. Witten, Topological quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 117 (1988) 353 [INSPIRE].
- [138] J.A. Harvey and A. Strominger, String theory and the Donaldson polynomial, Commun. Math. Phys. 151 (1993) 221 [hep-th/9108020] [INSPIRE].
- [139] P. Candelas, X. de la Ossa and J. McOrist, A metric for heterotic moduli, Commun. Math. Phys. 356 (2017) 567 [arXiv:1605.05256] [INSPIRE].
- [140] P. Candelas, X. De La Ossa, J. McOrist and R. Sisca, The universal geometry of heterotic vacua, JHEP 02 (2019) 038 [arXiv:1810.00879] [INSPIRE].
- [141] J. McOrist and R. Sisca, Small gauge transformations and universal geometry in heterotic theories, SIGMA 16 (2020) 126 [arXiv:1904.07578] [INSPIRE].